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OPERATIONS REVIEW

OPREATIONS REVIEW

The Company’s securities recommenced trading on the ASX on 28 August 2019 following the acquisition of a number of
automotive business collectively known as the RPM Automotive Group (“RPM Group”) and meeting the admission requirements
set out in Chapters 1 and 2 of the ASX Listing Rules.

The RPM Group offers a nationwide footprint focusing on wholesale distribution and retail of tyres, auto parts and accessories
and owns a variety of well-known and respected brands in the automotive market. The RPM Group is a group of businesses
operating in the Australian automotive aftermarket.

The year in review for each of the divisions are as follows:

Motorsport

This Division has been affected by the COVID-19 with stores been temporarily closed during March and April 2020. However
internet sales have continued over this period and with the restart of the motor racing, we have seen sales now returning to this
Division. For the year ended 30% June 2020, Gross Sales were $5,172,986 (2019 $7,707,727) and Net Operating Profit of
$167,930 (2019 $970,881)

Repairs and Roadside

Repairs and Roadside has continued to trade strongly with our Roadside and Repairs business concentrating on supplying goods
and services to the Transport industry over this period. During the year, the Division expanded with the acquisition of Metcher
Tyres and Competition Tyres — Hallam. Our retail outlets have been operating on reduced hours where applicable and we have
reduced our labour costs in line with the lesser hours of trade. For the year ended 30" June 2020 the Repairs and Roadside
Division Gross Sales were $12,058,683 and Net Operating Profit of $364,385.

Wheels and Tyres

Wheels and Tyres is our wholesale tyre division concentrating on the supply of Truck and Heavy Plant and Equipment tyres to
retailers. This Division has had incremental growth over the past year and was able to have continued supply of inventory out of
China during the COVID-19 lock down period in March/April 2020. Management is working on inventory levels and margins
to improve the future results. For the year ended 30" June 2020, the Wheels and Tyres Division Gross Sales were $12,035,092
and Net Operating Profit of $661,618.

Performance & Accessories

Our accessories division has continued to trade profitable over the past year. The COVID-19 has affected sales however
Management has taken steps in relation to reducing labour and material costs. Our Wildcat manufacturing site has had continued
growth through web-based sales and has strong back orders leading into the new financial year. For the year ended 30" June
2020, the Accessories Division Gross Sales were $3,203,178 and Net Operating Profit of $673,993.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report on RPM Automotive Group Limited (“RPM” or “the Company”) and its controlled entities
(“the Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2020.

DIRECTORS
The names of the Directors of the Company in office during the financial year and up to the date of this report were as follows.
Directors were in office for the entire year unless specified otherwise.

Grant Carman (appointed 25 November 2019)
Clive Finkelstein (appointed 28 August 2019)
Lawrence Jaffe (appointed 28 August 2019)
Wei Liu (appointed 20 February 2020)

Alex Goodman (appointed 18 February 2020)
Campbell Welch (resigned 18 February 2020)
Scott Brown (resigned 22 November 2019)
Robert Downey (resigned 28 August 2019)

INFORMATION ON CURRENT DIRECTORS
Grant Carman (appointed 25 November 2019)
Grant Carman is a chartered accountant with over 30 years’ experience in corporate finance and the Australian Capital Markets.

Grant has held senior executive positions for and acted as a corporate adviser to a large number of Australian and international
companies from a range of industry sectors, including financial services, automotive, pharmaceuticals, wholesale distribution,
manufacturing, services, resources, technology and telecommunications.

His previous corporate roles include Chief Financial Officer at ORIX Australia, General Manager Finance & Shared Services at
National Australia Bank, CEO at National Australia Corporate Advisory, Director of Acquisitions at Ferrier Hodgson CA,
Finance Director at Australian Envelopes and Group Financial Controller at Faulding.

Grant is Director — Capital Markets Group for Melbourne-based, D H Flinders Corporate Advisory. He specializes in mergers
and acquisitions and raising corporate finance for listed and pre-IPO companies.

Grant has a broad range of experience which includes corporate strategy, mergers & acquisitions, business divestments, corporate
restructuring, debt & equity raising and refinancing, corporate valuations, corporate governance and risk management.

During the past three years, Mr Carman has held no other listed company directorships.

Clive Finkelstein (appointed 28 August 2019)

Clive is a co-founder and promoter of the RPM Group. Clive has over 20 years’ experience in the automotive sector, having
built, managed and sold a successful 4WD franchise group. Clive’s experience spans manufacturing, development, wholesale,
retail and franchising of automotive businesses. Clive is a significant shareholder in the RPM Group.

During the past three years, Mr Finkelstein has held no other listed company directorships.
Lawrence Jaffe (appointed 28 August 2019)

Lawrence is a co-founder and promoter of the RPM Group. Lawrence has a strong financial background having worked on many
Mergers & Acquisitions. He has over 20 years’ experience in the automotive sector and was the CEO of RPM Australasia until
2015 when the group sold off one of its subsidiaries. Lawrence remained on as non-executive chairman of RPM Australasia and
has now re-joined the executive team. Lawrence is a significant shareholder in the RPM Group. Lawrence is also the chairman
and shareholder of one of Australia’s leading flexible packaging companies which is a private company.

During the past three years, Mr Jaffe has held no other listed company directorships.
Wei Liu (appointed 20 February 2020)
Wei has a passion and strong practical work experience in the automotive and tyres industry.

Wei is the founder of Spider GT, which he established in 2012 to import tyres from China to Australia for wholesale into the
Australian market. To achieve the success of the business, Wei and the team at Spider GT have used a combination of traditional
marketing but also incorporating new marketing pipelines through social media platforms and other digital marketing techniques.

During the past three years, Mr Liu has held no other listed company directorships.
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Alex Goodman (appointed 18 February 2020)
Alex has a strong background in Private Equity, business expansion of Private Companies and Executive Management in Global
Companies such as IBM, Lotus (Boston) and Amdahl (Silicon Valley).

Alex worked in Jagen P/L, the Family Office of the Liberman Family and sat as a Director, on a number of boards which included
activities such as Investment Management and Mergers and Acquisitions.

He also constructed Acquisitions with key investors, including some of Australia’s leading Investor families.

After working in IBM with the Australian financial sector, Alex took on roles in Australian Start-ups bringing many to successful
exits, or organic growth.

Alex holds a BS¢ with Double Major in Applied Mathematics & Computer Science.

During the past three years, Mr Goodman has held no other listed company directorships.

INFORMATION ON FORMER DIRECTORS

Campbell Welch (resigned 18 February 2020)
B.Com
Non-Executive Chairman

Mr Welch has over 15 years of experience in accounting and financial markets, both in Australia and the UK. He is currently a
senior advisor at Novus Capital Ltd, a boutique corporate advisory and share dealing firm headquartered in Sydney, Australia.
His prior work experience includes appointments at AMP, Challenger Ltd, Royal London Asset Management and Colonial First
State. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Sydney and is a candidate in the CFA Institute program.

During the past three years, Mr Welch has held the following other listed company directorships:
¢ Shine Metals Limited (27 September 2017 to present)

Scott Brown (resigned 22 November 2019)
B. Bus, M. Com
Non-Executive Director

Mr Brown has extensive experience in finance and the management of public companies including guiding numerous companies
through the listing process. He has held a variety of executive roles in public companies including Mosaic Oil NL, Objective
Corporation Limited, Turnbull & Partners Limited, Allegiance Mining NL, FTR Holding Limited and Garratt’s Limited. He also
worked at accounting firms EY and KPMG. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and the
Petroleum Exploration Society of Australia (PESA). Currently he is the managing director of Real Energy Corporation Ltd (RLE)
and Shine Metals Limited (ASX:SHI).

During the past three years Mr Brown has held the following other listed company directorships:
= Real Energy Corporation Ltd (2 October 2009 to present)
= Shine Metals Limited (27 September 2017 to present)

Robert Downey (resigned 28 August 2019)
B.Ed, LL.B (Hons)
Non-Executive Director

Mr Downey is a qualified solicitor who has practised mainly in the areas of international resources law, corporate law and initial
public offerings as well as mergers and acquisitions. He has extensive experience as an adviser, founder and director of various
ASX, TSX and AIM companies. Mr Downey is currently a principal of Dominion Legal, a boutique law firm in Perth.

During the past three years Mr Downey has held the following other listed company directorships:
=  Minrex Resources NL (8 September 2014 to 29 January 2018)

»  Calima Energy Limited (15 September 2015 to 25 August 2017)

= Metalsearch Limited (18 October 2016 to present)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Wayne John Kernaghan
BBus, ACA, FAICD, ACIS

Mr Kernaghan is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia with a number of years” experience in
various areas of the mining industry. He is also a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS
The relevant interest of each Director in the shares and options of the Company at the date of this report is as follows:

Name Shares - Direct Shares - Indirect Options - Direct Options - Indirect
Grant Carman - - - -
Clive Finkelstein 359,100 41,190,648 - 53,750
Lawrence Jaffe 27,050 41,200,648 - 56,250
Wei Liu - 8,600,000 - -
Alex Goodman - - - -

MEETINGS OF THE COMPANY’S DIRECTORS
The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2020, and the number of meetings
attended by each Director were:

Number Attended Maximum Possible
Grant Carman (appointed 25 November 2019) 4 4
Clive Finkelstein (appointed 28 August 2019) 5 5
Lawrence Jaffe (appointed 28 August 2019) 5 5
Wei Liu (appointed 20 February 2020) 2 2
Alex Goodman (appointed 18 February 2020) 2 2
Campbell Welch ( resigned 18 February 2020) 3 3
Scott Brown (resigned 22 November 2019) 1 1
Robert Downey (resigned 28 August 2019) - -

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company during the financial year was the involvement in the wholesale distribution and retail
of tyres, auto parts and accessories and owns a variety of well-known and respected brands in the automotive market.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating Activities
A review of the operations of the Group is contained in the Operations Review.

SUMMARY OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The Group’s consolidated loss after tax for the financial year was $ 1,512,230 (2019: profit of $637,787).

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The basic loss per share from continuing operations was (1.99) cents.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 30 June 2020 the Group’s cash reserves were $2,083,173 (2019: $81,334).

DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company in the period since the end of the previous financial year and up to the date

of this report.

CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

In 2018 RPM Automotive Group Limited (formerly Kairiki Energy Limited) (‘RPM1”) entered into binding agreements to
acquire 100% of the businesses that comprise the RPM Group. The proposed transaction enabled the RPM Group to obtain
listing on the ASX via a Reverse Take-Over (RTO) of the Company. The vendors of the businesses being acquired received a
mixture of shares in the Company and cash as consideration for the acquisitions. As a part of the proposed transaction the
Company changed its name from Kairiki Energy Limited to RPM Automotive Group Limited. Refer note 2 for further details.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect

the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years other than:

e Acquisitions of additional businesses CITIC Autoparts Pty Ltd and Gully Mobile Tyres
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
RPM is committed to developing its existing businesses which is the wholesale distribution and retail tyres, auto parts and
accessories. The Company will continue looking for other opportunities to add to its existing businesses.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements for Directors and Executives of RPM Automotive Group Limited. The
information provided in the remuneration report includes remuneration disclosures that are audited as required by section
308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.

For the purposes of this report Key Management Personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the group, directly or indirectly, including any
director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company.

For the purposes of this report the term “Executive” includes those key management personnel who are not Directors of the
parent company.

Remuneration Committee
The full Board carries out the role and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee and is responsible for determining and
reviewing the compensation arrangements for the Directors themselves, the Managing Director and any Executives.

Executive remuneration is reviewed annually having regard to individual and business performance, relevant comparative
remuneration and internal and independent external advice.

A.  Remuneration policy

The board policy is to remunerate Directors at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities. The board determines
payments to the Directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability.
Independent external advice is sought when required. The maximum aggregate amount of Directors’ fees that can be paid is
subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting, from time to time. The Company’s aim is to remunerate at a level that
will attract and retain high-calibre Directors and employees.

Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the consolidated entity. However, to align Directors’
interests with shareholders’ interests, the Directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company.
All remuneration paid to directors is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed.

The Board believes that it has implemented suitable practices and procedures that are appropriate for an organisation of this size
and maturity.

The Company did not pay any performance-based component of remuneration during the year.

B. Remuneration structure
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director compensation is separate and

distinct.

Non-Executive Director Compensation
Objective

The Board seeks to set aggregate compensation at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain Directors
of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.

Structure

The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate compensation of Non-Executive Directors shall be
determined from time to time by a general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between
the Directors as agreed.

The amount of aggregate compensation sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned amongst
Directors is reviewed annually. The Board may consider advice from external consultants as well as the fees paid to Non-
Executive Directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process. Non-Executive Directors’
remuneration may include an incentive portion consisting of options, as considered appropriate by the Board, which may be
subject to shareholder approval in accordance with ASX listing rules. The Board is of the view that options are a cost effective
benefit for small companies such as RPM that seek to conserve cash reserves. They also provide an incentive that ultimately
benefits both shareholders and the option holder, as option holders will only benefit if the market value of the underlying shares
exceeds the option strike price. Ultimately, shareholders will make that determination.

Separate from their duties as Directors, the Non-Executive Directors may undertake work for the Company directly related to
the evaluation and implementation of various business opportunities, for which they receive a daily rate. These payments are
made pursuant to consultancy arrangements entered into by the Non-Executive Directors with the Company and are not taken
into account when determining their aggregate remuneration levels.

8
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Executive Compensation
Objective
The entity aims to reward Executives with a level and mix of compensation commensurate with their position and
responsibilities within the entity so as to:
e reward Executives for company and individual performance against targets set by appropriate benchmarks;
e align the interests of Executives with those of shareholders;
e link rewards with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and
e ensure total compensation is competitive by market standards.

Structure

In determining the level and make-up of Executive remuneration, the Board negotiates a remuneration to reflect the market salary
for a position and individual of comparable responsibility and experience. Due to the limited size of the Company and of its
operations and financial affairs, the use of a separate remuneration committee is not considered appropriate. Remuneration is
regularly compared with the external market by participation in industry salary surveys and during recruitment activities
generally. If required, the Board may engage an external consultant to provide independent advice in the form of a written report
detailing market levels of remuneration for comparable Executive roles.

The Company’s only Executive’s during the years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 was the Chief Executive Officer and
Company Secretary, who both received fixed remuneration.

Fixed Remuneration

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to the position and
is competitive in the market. Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board having regard to the Company and individual
performance, relevant comparable remuneration in the industry and external advice.

The fixed remuneration is a base salary or monthly consulting fee.

C. Service agreements

There are no formal service agreements with the Non-Executive Chairman or Non-Executive Directors. On appointment to the
Board, all Directors receive a letter of appointment that summarises Board policies and terms, which mirror those set out within
the Corporations Act 2001 relevant to the office of Director.

D. Company performance
In determining Key Management Personnel remuneration, the Board takes note of the following measures of company
performance in respect of the current and previous four financial years.

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Profit/ (loss) after tax (A$’000) (1,195) @) (@) @) @)
Closing share price (A$) 0.135 (i) (i) (i) ®
@ Prior period information is not disclosed here as the company has significantly changed its operations from

2020 financial year onwards due to the reverse takeover transaction completed during this period — refer note
1 to the financial statements for further details.

E. Details of remuneration for year

Details of Key Management Personnel are set out below.

Directors

Grant Carman Non-Executive Chairman- appointed 25 November 2019
Clive Finkelstein Executive Director- appointed 28 August 2019
Lawrence Jaffe Executive Director -appointed 28 August 2019

Wei Liu Executive Director — appointed 20 February 2020

Alex Goodman Non-Executive Director — appointed 18 February 2020
Campbell Welch Non-Executive Director- resigned 18 February 2020
Scott Brown Non-Executive Director — resigned 22 November 2019
Robert Downey Non-Executive Director- resigned 28 August 2019
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Remuneration
The remuneration of each Director and named executive officer of the Company, including their related entities, during the year
was as follows:

Post Share-based | Terminati
Short Term Benefits Employmen Payments on
t payments
Salary Remunerati
and Director | Superannua Options Total on
consulting fees tion consisting
Year fees $ $ $ $ of options
$ $ Yo
Directors
G Carman 2020 22,000 - - 22,000 -
2019 - - - - - -
C 2020 204,583 19,435 - - | 224,018 -
Finkelstein 2019 - - - - - -
L Jaffe 2020 146,250 - - 146,250 -
2019 - - - - - -
W Lei 2020 143,835 13,664 - 157,499 -
2019 - - - - -
A Goodman 2020 - -
2019 - - - - - - -
C Welch 2020 - 22,000 - - - 22,000 -
2019 10,000 - - - 10,000 -
S Brown 2020 - 40,000 - - - 40,000 -
2019 10,000 - - - - 10,000 -
R Downey 2020 - - - - - - -
2019 - - - - - - -
Total 2020 494,668 84,000 33,099 - -| 611,767
2019 20,000 - - - 20,000 -

The following amounts of current and former key management personnel remuneration (excluding GST) remained unpaid as at
30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019:

$ $
2020 2019
G Carman - -
A Goodman - -
R Downey - | 100,000
N Bassett - 50,000

No performance-related payments were made during the year.

F. Compensation Options Issued to Key Management Personnel

No options were granted as equity compensation benefits to Key Management Personnel during the year ended 30 June 2020.
G.  Shares Issued to Key Management Personnel on Exercise of Compensation Options

No key management personnel exercised options during the years ended 30 June 2020.

H. Option holdings of Key Management Personnel
No key management personnel held options during the year ended 30 June 2020.

10
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I. Share holdings of Key Management Personnel

Change due to
Balance at appointment / Net Additions Balance at
30 June 2019 (resignation) 30 June 2020

2020
Directors
G Carman - - - -
C Finkelstein - 37,462,680 4,087,068 41,549,748
L Jaffe - 37,342,600 3,885,098 41,227,698
W Liu - 8,600,000 - 8,600,000
A Goodman - - - -
C Welch 45,129 (320,129) 275,000 -
S Brown - (32,000) 32,000 -
R Downey - - - -

45,129 83,053,151 8,279,166 91,377,446

J.  Other transactions and balances with Key Management Personnel

A legal firm of which director Robert Downey is a principal provided services totalling Nil (2019: Nil) during the year.

This concludes the Remuneration Report.

SHARES UNDER OPTION
At the date of this report the Company had 8,982,698 and at 30 June 2020 the Company had 8,982,698 (2019: Nil) listed options
on issue over unissued ordinary shares and the details are as follows:

Type Grant Date Number Exercise Price Expiry Date
Listed 28 August 2020 8,982,698 $0.25 28 August 2022

During the year 8 (2019: Nil) fully paid ordinary shares were issued by virtue of the exercise of options. Since the end of the
financial year nil (2019: Nil) shares have been issued by virtue of the exercise of options.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The Group’s environmental obligations are regulated under both State and Federal laws and regulations. All environmental
performance obligations are monitored by the Board and subjected from time to time to Government agency audits and site
inspections. The Company has a policy of at least complying with, but in most cases exceeding, its statutory environmental
performance obligations. No environmental breaches have occurred or have been notified by any Government agencies during
the year ended 30 June 2020 or subsequent to year end.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of RPM Automotive
Group Limited support and have adhered to the principles of corporate governance and have established a set of policies and
manuals for the purpose of managing corporate governance. The Company’s detailed corporate governance policy statement is
contained in the section headed ‘Corporate Governance Statement’ of the annual report.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

The Company does not hold insurance covering Directors and Officers of the Company against any liability arising from a claim
brought by a third party against its Directors and Officers, or against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in
defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in their capacity as a Director or Officer of the Company,
other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company.

No Indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid during or since the end of the financial year, for the auditors of the
Group.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

There were no non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor aside from as disclosed in Note 23 to the
financial statements

11
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AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE )
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on the

following page.
This report is made in accordance with i resolution of the Directors.

For and on behalf of the Board.

b,_\/

Grant Carman
Chairman
30 September 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors of RPM Automotive Group Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The
Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of RPM Automotive Group Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom
they are elected and to whom they are accountable. This statement reports on RPM Automotive Group Limited’s key governance
principles and practices.

1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

This Corporate Governance Statement is current as of 28 September 2020 and has been approved by the Board of the Company
on that date.

This Corporate Governance Statement discloses the extent to which the Company follows the recommendations set by the ASX
Corporate Governance Council in its publication “Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations” 3™ edition
(Recommendations). The Recommendations are not mandatory, however, the Recommendations that will not be followed have
been identified and reasons provided for not following them along with what (if any) alternative governance practices the
Company intends to adopt in lieu of the recommendation.

The Company has adopted a Corporate Governance Plan that provides the written terms of reference for the Company’s corporate
governance duties that is available on the Company’s website at www.rpmgroup.net.au.

Due to the current size and nature of the existing Board, the Board has not established individual Board committees. Under the
Board’s Charter, the duties that would ordinarily be assigned to individual committees are currently carried out by the full Board
under the written terms of reference for those committees.

RECOMMENDATIONS

COMPLY

EXPLANATION

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Recommendation 1.1

A listed entity should have and disclose a charter
which sets out the respective roles and responsibilities
of the Board, the Chair and management, and includes
a description of those matters expressly reserved to the
Board and those delegated to management.

YES

The Company has adopted a Board Charter that sets
out the specific roles and responsibilities of the
Board, the Chair and management and includes a
description of those matters expressly reserved to the
Board and those delegated to management.

The Board Charter sets out the specific responsibility
of the Board, requirements as to the Board’s
composition, the roles and responsibilities of the
Chairman and Company Secretary, the establishment,
operation and management of Board Committees,
Directors’ access to Company records and
information, details of the Board’s relationship with
management, details of the Board’s performance
review and details of the Board’s disclosure policy.

A copy of the Company’s Board Charter, which is
part of the Company’s Corporate Governance Plan, is
available on the Company’s website.

Recommendation 1.2
A listed entity should:

(a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a
person, or putting forward to security holders a
candidate for election, as a Director; and

(b) provide security holders with all material
information relevant to a decision on whether or
not to elect or re-elect a Director.

YES

The Company has guidelines for the
appointment and selection of the Board in its
Corporate Governance Plan. The Company's
Nomination Committee Charter (in the
Company's Corporate Governance Plan)
requires. the Nomination Committee (or, in its
absence, the Board) to ensure appropriate
checks (including checks in respect of
character, experience, education, criminal
record and bankruptcy history (as appropriate))
are undertaken before appointing a person or
putting forward to security holders a candidate
for election, as a Director..

(@
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RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY | EXPLANATION
(b) Under the Nomination Committee Charter, all
material information relevant to a decision on
whether or not to elect or re-elect a Director
must be provided to security holders in the
Notice of Meeting containing the resolution to
elect or re-elect a Director.
Recommendation 1.3 The Company's Nomination Committee Charter
13 p y . . . . .
A listed entity should have a written agreement with YES riqulres tl;le I\éomlcrixatlon Comnllllttee ((})lr’Dlp its d
each Director and senior executive setting out the terms absence, the >oar ) to ensure ¢ at eac irector an
of their appointment. senior executive is a party to a written agreement
with the Company which sets out the terms of that
Director's or senior executive's appointment.
The Company has written agreements with each of its
Directors and senior executives.
Recommendation 1.4 The Board Charter outlines the roles, responsibility
The company secretary of a listed entity should be YES and agcountab'l;ltt}lflpf ﬂﬁe gompany gecretary. .In
accountable directly to the Board, through the Chair, accordance Wl,t is, the Company Secretary 1S
on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the accountable directly to the Board, through the Chair,
Board on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the
' Board.
Recommendation 1.5 (a) The Company has adopted a Diversity Polic
y P ty Y
PARTIALLY which provides a framework for the Company

A listed entity should:

(a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements
for the Board or a relevant committee of the Board
to set measurable objectives for achieving gender
diversity and to assess annually both the objectives
and the entity’s progress in achieving them;

(b) disclose that policy or a summary or it; and
(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period:

(i) the measurable objectives for achieving
gender diversity set by the Board in
accordance with the entity’s diversity policy
and its progress towards achieving them; and

(i) either:

(A) the respective proportions of men and
women on the Board, in senior
executive positions and across the
whole organisation (including how the

entity has defined “senior executive”
for these purposes); or

(B) if the entity is a “relevant employer”
under the Workplace Gender Equality
Act 2012, the entity’s most recent
“Gender Equality Indicators” as
defined in that Act.

to establish and achieve measurable diversity
objectives, including in respect of gender
diversity. The Diversity Policy allows the
Board to set measurable gender diversity
objectives if considered appropriate and to
assess annually both the objectives and the
Company's progress in achieving them.

(b) The Diversity Policy is available, as part of the
Corporate Governance Plan, on the Company's
website.

(i) The Board does not presently intend to
set measurable gender diversity
objectives because, if it becomes
necessary to appoint any new Directors
or senior executives. the Board
considered the application of a
measurable gender diversity objective
requiring a specified proportion of
women on the Board and in senior
executive roles will, given the small
size of the Company and the Board,
unduly limit the Company from
applying the Diversity Policy as a
whole and the Company's policy of
appointing based on skills and merit;
and

(ii) the respective proportions of men and
women on the Board, in senior
executive positions and across the
whole organisation (including how the
entity has defined "senior executive"
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for these purposes) for each financial
year will be disclosed on the
Company's website
Recommendation 1.6 (a) The Company's Nomination Committee (or, in
A listed entity should: YES its absence, the Board) is responsible for
evaluating the performance of the Board, its
(a) have and disclose a process for periodically committees, and individual Directors on an
evaluating the performance of the Board, its annual basis. It may do so with the aid of an
committees and individual Directors; and independent advisor. The process for this is set
(b) disclose in relation to each reporting period, out in the Company's Corporate Governance
whether a performance evaluation was undertaken Plan, which is available on the Company's
in the reporting period in accordance with that website.
process. (b) The Company's Corporate Governance Plan
requires the Company to disclose whether
performance evaluations were conducted during
the relevant reporting period. The Company
intends to complete performance evaluations in
respect of the Board, its committees (if any) and
individual Directors for each financial year in
accordance with the above process.
Recommendation 1.7 (a) The Company's Nomination Committee (or, in
A listed entity should: YES its absence, the Board) is responsible for
evaluating the performance of the Company's
(a) have and disclose a process for periodically senior executives on an annual basis. The

(b

evaluating the performance of its senior executives;
and

disclose in relation to each reporting period,
whether a performance evaluation was undertaken
in the reporting period in accordance with that
process.

(b)

Company's Remuneration Committee (or, in its
absence, the Board) is responsible for
evaluating the remuneration of the Company's
senior executives on an annual basis. A senior
executive, for these purposes, means key
management personnel (as defined in the
Corporations Act) other than a non-executive
Director.

The applicable processes for these evaluations
can be found in the Company's Corporate
Governance Plan, which is available on the
Company's website.

The Company's Corporate Governance Plan
requires the Company to disclose whether
performance evaluations were conducted during
the relevant reporting period. The Company
intends to complete performance evaluations in
respect of the senior executives (if any) for each
financial year in accordance with the applicable
processes.
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Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value
Recommendation 2.1 (a) The Company does not have a Nomination
The Board of a listed entity should: NO Comm%ttee. The Compar.ly’s Nomination .
Committee Charter provides for the creation of
(a) have a nomination committee which: a Nomination Committee (if it is considered it
(i) has at least three members, a majority of will benefit the.Cgmpany), with at 'least three
whom are independent Directors; and members, a majority of whom are independent
. . . . Directors, and which must be chaired by an
(ii)  is chaired by an independent Director, independent Director.
and disclose: (b) The Company does not have a Nomination
(i) the charter of the committee; Committee as the Board considers the
. ) Company will not currently benefit from its
(iv)  the members of the committee; and establishment. In accordance with the
(v) as at the end of each reporting period, the Company's Board Charter, the Board carries out
number of times the committee met the duties that would ordinarily be carried out
throughout the period and the individual by the Nomination Committee under the
attendances of the members at those Nomination Committee Charter, including the
meetings; or following processes to address succession
(b) ifit does not have a nomination committee, disclose 15U€S al.ld to ensure the Board has t.he
that fact and the processes it employs to address appropriate balance of skills, experience,
p ploys res . ;
Board succession issues and to ensure that the mdeper}dence?, and kngwledge of the entity to
Board has the appropriate balance of skills enable itto discharge its duties and
pprop: ; e velu-
experience, independence and knowledge of the responsibilities effectively:
entity to enable it to discharge its duties and (i) devoting time at least annually to
responsibilities effectively. discuss Board succession issues and
updating the Company's Board skills
matrix; and
(ii) all Board members being involved in
the Company's nomination process, to
the maximum extent permitted under
the Corporations Act and ASX Listing
Rules.
Recommendation 2.2 Under the Nomination Committee Charter (in the
A listed entity should have and disclose a Board skill NO Company's Corporate Governance Plan), the

matrix setting out the mix of skills and diversity that
the Board currently has or is looking to achieve in its
membership.

Nomination Committee (or, in its absence, the Board)
is required to prepare a Board skill matrix setting out
the mix of skills and diversity that the Board current
has (or is looking to achieve) and to review this at
least annually against the Company's Board skills
matrix to ensure the appropriate mix of skills and
expertise is present to facilitate successful strategic
direction.

The Company intends to develop a Board skill matrix
setting out the mix of skills and diversity that the
Board currently has or is looking to achieve in its
membership. A copy will be made available on the
Company's website.

The Board Charter requires the disclosure of each
Board member's qualifications and expertise. Full
details as to each Director and senior executive's
relevant skills and experience are available.
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Recommendation 2.3 (a) The Board Charter requires the disclosure of
. . . the names of Directors considered by the Board
Al h lose: . A
isted entity should disclose to be independent. The Company will disclose
(a) the names of the Directors considered by the Board YES those Directors it considers to be independent
to be independent Directors; in its Annual Report and on its ASX website.
(b) if a Director has an interest, position, association or The Board considers that two of the current
relationship of the type described in Box 2.3 of the Directors are independent.
ASX Corporate Governance Principles and (b) There are two independent Directors who fall

Recommendation (3rd Edition), but the Board is of
the opinion that it does not compromise the
independence of the Director, the nature of the
interest, position, association or relationship in
question and an explanation of why the Board is of
that opinion; and

(c) the length of service of each Director

into this category. The Company will disclose
in its Annual Report and ASX website any
instances where this applies and an explanation
of the Board's opinion why the relevant
Director is still considered to be independent.

(¢) The Company's Annual Report discloses the
length of service of each Director, as at the end
of each financial year.

Recommendation 2.4

A majority of the Board of a listed entity should be
independent Directors.

NO

The Board Charter requires that, where practical, the
majority of the Board must be independent.

At this stage, two of its Directors are considered
independent.

As such, independent Directors are not currently an
independent majority of the Board.

The Board currently considers an non-independent
majority of the Board to be appropriate given:

(a) the nature of the Company's business, and its
limited scale of activities, meaning the Company
only needs, and can only commercially sustain,
a small Board of three Directors:

the Company considers at least one (1) Director
needs to be executive Directors for the Company
to be effectively managed.

(b)

Recommendation 2.5

The Chair of the Board of a listed entity should be an
independent Director and, in particular, should not be
the same person as the CEO of the entity.

YES

The Board Charter provides that, where practical, the
Chair of the Board should be an independent Director
and should not be the CEO/Managing Director.

The Chair of the Company is not an independent
Director. The Company does not have a CEO.

The Board does have an independent Chair.

Recommendation 2.6

A listed entity should have a program for inducting
new Directors and providing appropriate professional
development opportunities for continuing Directors to
develop and maintain the skills and knowledge needed
to perform their role as a Director effectively.

YES

In accordance with the Company’s Board Charter,
the Nominations Committee (or, in its absence, the
Board) is responsible for the approval and review of
induction and continuing professional development
programs and procedures for Directors to ensure that
they can effectively discharge their responsibilities.
The Chair is responsible for facilitating inductions
and professional development.

Principle 3: Act ethically and responsibly
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Recommendation 3.1 (a) The Company’s Corporate Code of Conduct
A listed entity should: YES applies to the Company’s Directors, senior
) ) ) executives and employees.
@ leli‘efu'?i sziiszrgg?:;gs.ﬁ;; dlts Directors, senior (b) The Company’s Corporate Code of Conduct
’ (which forms part of the Company’s Corporate
(b) disclose that code or a summary of it. Governance Plan) is available on the Company’s
website.
Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Recommendation 4.1 (a) The Company currently does not have an Audit
: : ) and Risk Committee. The Company's Corporate
The Board of a listed entity should: NO Governance Plan contains an Audit and Risk
(a) have an audit committee which: Committee Charter that provides for the
(i) has at least three members, all of whom are f:reatiop of an‘Auc'iit and Risk Committee (if it
non-executive Directors and a majority of is considered it will benefit the Company), with
whom are independent Directors; and at least three members, all of whom must be
L . . ) independent Directors, and which must be
(i) is chaired by an independent Director, who chaired by an independent Director who is not
is not the chair of the Board, the Chair.
and disclose: (b) The Company does not have an Audit and Risk
(iii) the charter of the committee; Committee as the Board considers the
. , , . Company will not currently benefit from its
(iv) the relevant qualifications an.d experience establishment. In accordance with the
of the members of the committee; and Company's Board Charter, the Board also
(v) in relation to each reporting period, the carries out the duties that would ordinarily be
number of times the committee met carried out by the Audit and Risk Committee
throughout the period and the individual under the Audit and Risk Committee Charter
attendances of the members at those including the following processes to
meetings; or independently verify and safeguard the integrity
(b) ifit does not have an audit committee, disclose that of its financial reportu}g, including the
fact and the processes it employs that independently processes for th‘? appolntment ar{d removal of .
verify and safeguard the integrity of its financial the external auditor .and the rotation of the audit
reporting, including the processes for the engagement partner:
appointment and removal of the external auditor €] the Board devotes time at annual Board
and the rotation of the audit engagement partner. meetings to fulfilling the roles and
responsibilities associated with
maintaining the Company's internal
audit function and arrangements with
external auditors; and
(i)  all members of the Board are involved in
the Company's audit function to ensure
the proper maintenance of the entity and
the integrity of all financial reporting.
Recommendation 4.2 These obligations of a Company’s CFO or CEO (if
The Board of a listed entity should, before it approves YES any) are set out in the Company’s Corporate

the entity’s financial statements for a financial period,
receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration that the
financial records of the entity have been properly
maintained and that the financial statements comply
with the appropriate accounting standards and give a
true and fair view of the financial position and
performance of the entity and that the opinion has been
formed on the basis of a sound system of risk

Governance Plan.

The Company's Audit and Risk Committee Charter
requires the CEO and CFO (or, if none. the person(s)
fulfilling those functions) to provide a sign off on
these terms.

The Company intends to obtain a sign off on these
terms for each of its financial statements in each
financial year.
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management and internal control which is operating
effectively.
Recommendation 4.3 The Company’s Corporate Governance Plan provides
pany P p
A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its YES theg.the Boar(cii n.luslt\énl\sdure ;h.e Con.llp %rlly s external
external auditor attends its AGM and is available to auditor att;:rn s 1ts AL har; d s avalu able fo Tswe;.
answer questions from security holders relevant to the questions from security holders relevant to the audit.
audit.
Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure
Recommendation 5.1 (a) The Board Charter provides details of the
. . ) Company’s disclosure policy. In addition
A listed entity should: YES . ’
Isted entity s .ou . _ o Corporate Governance Plan details the
(a) have a written policy for complying with its Company’s disclosure requirements as required
continuous disclosure obligations under the Listing by the ASX Listing Rules and other relevant
Rules; and legislation.
(b) The Board Charter and Schedule 7 of the
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. Corporate Governance Plan are available on the
Company website.
Principle 6: Respect the rights of security holders
Recommendation 6.1 Information about the Company and its governance is
A listed entity should provide information about itself YES avaléabﬁe m(;he C[(:rpcc:)rate Gox:ernartl)cc'a Plan which
and its governance to investors via its website. can be found on the Company’s website.
Recommendation 6.2 The Company has adopted a Shareholder
pary pret a Stard
A listed entity should design and implement an YES Com_mumcatmgs Strategy which aims to.prom_ote and
investor relations program to facilitate effective two- famhtate effective two-way 'commumcatlon WIth.
way communication with investors. investors. The Strategy outlines a range of ways in
which information is communicated to shareholders
and is available on the Company’s website as part of
the Company’s Corporate Governance Plan.
Recommendation 6.3 Shareholders are encouraged to participate at all
A listed entity should disclose the policies and YES gGMS a;lndeGMs ?.f thefComF.any. Lé}})lon tllllel d
processes it has in place to facilitate and encourage espatch of any notice of meeting to Shareholders,
participation at meetings of security holders. the Company Secretary shall send out material in that
notice of meeting stating that all Shareholders are
encouraged to participate at the meeting.
Recommendation 6.4 The Shareholder Communication Strategy states that,
A listed entity should give security holders the option YES securityholders can register with the Company to

to receive communications from, and send
communications to, the entity and its security registry
electronically.

receive email notifications of when an announcement
is made by the Company to the ASX, including the
release of the Annual Report, half yearly reports and
quarterly reports. Links are made available to the
Company’s website on which all information
provided to the ASX is immediately posted.
Shareholders queries should be referred to the
Company Secretary at first instance.
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Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
Recommendation 7.1 (a) The Company does not have an Audit and Risk
; : . Committee. The Company's Corporate
The Board of a listed entity should: NO
e boar (? ahisted.en fy shou Governance Plan contains an Audit and Risk
(@) h‘ave a commltte'e or committees to oversee Committee Charter that provides for the
risk, each of which: creation of an Audit and Risk Committee (if it
) has at least three members, a majority of is considered it will benefit the Company). with
whom are independent Directors; and at least three members, all of whom must be
. . . . ) independent Directors, and which must be
(i1) is chaired by an independent Director, chaired by an independent Director.
and disclose: (b) The Company does not have an Audit and Risk
(iii) the charter of the committee; Committee as the Board consider the Company
. h b fih ttee: and will not currently benefit from its
(iv) the members of the committee; an establishment. In accordance with the
) as at the end of each reporting period, the Company's Board Charter, the Board carries out
number of times the committee met the duties that would ordinarily be carried out
throughout the period and the individual by the Audit and Risk Committee under the
attendances of the members at those Audit and Risk Committee Charter including
meetings; or the following processes to oversee the entity's
(b) if it does not have a risk committee or risk management framework:
committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose @) the Board devotes time at quarterly
that fact and the process it employs for Board meetings to fulfilling the roles
overseeing the entity’s risk management and responsibilities associated with
framework. overseeing risk and maintaining the
entity's risk management framework and
associated internal compliance and
control procedures.
Recommendation 7.2 (a) The Audit and Risk Committee Charter
The Board or a committee of the Board should: YES requires that the Audit and Risk Committee
(or. in its absence, the Board) should. at
(a) review the entity’s risk management framework least annually, satisfy itself that the
with management at least annually to satisfy itself Company's risk management framework
that it continues to be sound; and continues to be sound.
(b) disclose in relatign to each reporting period, (b) The Company's Corporate Governance Plan
whether such a review has taken place. requires the Company to disclose at least
annually whether such a review of the
company's risk management framework has
taken place.
Recommendation 7.3 (a) The Audit and Risk Committee Charter
A listed entity should disclose: YES provides for the Audit and Risk Committee

(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function
is structured and what role it performs; or

if it does not have an internal audit function, that
fact and the processes it employs for evaluating and
continually improving the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control processes.

(b)

(or in its absence, the Board) to monitor the
need for an internal audit function.

The Company does not have an internal audit
function. The Company is committed to
understanding and managing risk and to
establishing an organisational culture that
ensures risk management is included in all
activities, decision making and business
processes. The Company does not have a
formal internal audit function due to its size.

(®)

Recommendation 7.4

The Audit and Risk Committee Charter requires the
Audit and Risk Committee (or, in its absence, the
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A listed entity should disclose whether it has any YES Board) to assist management determine whether the
material exposure to economic, environmental and Company has any material exposure to economic,
social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it environmental, and social sustainability risks and, if
manages or intends to manage those risks. it does, how it manages or intends to manage those
risks.
The Company's Corporate Governance Plan requires
the Company to disclose whether it has any material
exposure to economic, environmental, and social
sustainability risks and, if it does, how it manages or
intends to manage those risks. The Company will
disclose this information in its Annual Report and on
its ASX website as part of its continuous disclosure
obligations.
Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
a) The Company does not have a
pany
Remuneration Committee. The Company's
NO .
Recommendation 8.1 Corporate Governance Plan contains a
) Remuneration Committee Charter that
The Board of a listed entity should: provides for the creation of a Remuneration
(a) have a remuneration committee which: tChorr(ljmlttee (’§1t I'St}fortlsllderticlirlt will betz)leﬁt
) o e Company). with at least three members,
) hahs at least télree I:ilemtgfsa a major(lity of all of whom must be independent Directors,
whom are independent Directors; an and which must be chaired by an
(i) is chaired by an independent Director, independent Director.
and disclose: (b) The Company does not have a
o Remuneration Committee as the Board
(iii) the charter of the committee; considers the Company will not currently
(iv) the members of the committee; and benefit from its establishment. In accordance
. . ith 's B harter
(v) as at the end of each reporting period, the wi .the Cgmpany S oar‘d Charter, the
. . Board carries out the duties that would
number of times the committee met . .
. L ordinarily be carried out by the
throughout the period and the individual 7 \
Remuneration Committee under the
attendances of the members at those . . . .
. Remuneration Committee Charter including
meetings; or the following processes to set the level and
(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, composition of remuneration for Directors
disclose that fact and the processes it employs for and senior executives and ensuring that such
setting the level and composition of remuneration remuneration is appropriate and not
for Directors and senior executives and ensuring excessive:
that sgch remuneration is appropriate and not (i) the Board devotes time at the annual Board
excessive. . o
meeting to assess the level and composition
of remuneration for Directors and senior
executives
Recommendation 8.2 The Company’s Corporate Governance Plan requires
A listed entity should separately disclose its policies YES the Board to disclose its policies and practices

and practices regarding the remuneration of non-
executive Directors and the remuneration of executive
Directors and other senior executives and ensure that
the different roles and responsibilities of non-executive
Directors compared to executive Directors and other
senior executives are reflected in the level and
composition of their remuneration.

regarding the remuneration of non-executive,
executive and other senior Directors which is
disclosed on the Company’s website.
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scheme should:

(a) have a policy on whether participants are
permitted to enter into transactions (whether
through the use of derivatives or otherwise)
which limit the economic risk of participating
in the scheme; and

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it.

RECOMMENDATIONS COMPLY | EXPLANATION
Recommendation 8.3 The Company does not have an equity based
A listed entity which has an equity-based remuneration NA incentive remuneration scheme.

2. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

2(a) Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value. To fulfil this role, the Board
is responsible for oversight of the management and the overall corporate governance of the Company including its
strategic direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of these goals.

The Board operates within the broad principles and responsibilities described in the following:

Setting the strategic aims of the Company and overseeing management’s performance within that framework;

Making sure that the necessary resources (financial and human) are available to the Company and its senior
executives to meet its objectives;

Overseeing management’s performance and the progress and development of the Company’s strategic plan;

Selecting and appointing suitable Executive Directors with the appropriate skills to help the Company in the pursuit
of its objectives;

Determining the remuneration policy for the Board members, Company Secretary and Senior Management;
Controlling and approving financial reporting, capital structures and material contracts;

Ensuring that a sound system of risk management and internal controls are in place;

Setting the Company’s values and standards;

Undertaking a formal and rigorous review of the Corporate Governance policies to ensure adherence to the ASX
Corporate Governance Council;

Ensuring that the Company’s obligations to shareholders are understood and met;

Ensuring the health, safety and well-being of employees in conjunction with the senior management team, including
developing, overseeing and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s occupational health and safety systems to
assure the well-being of all employees;

Ensuring an adequate system is in place for the proper delegation of duties for the effective operative day to day
running of the Company without the Board losing sight of the direction that the Company is taking; and

Any other matter considered desirable and in the interest of the Company.

2(b) Board Composition

The Directors determine the composition of the Board employing the following principles:

the Board, in accordance with the Company’s constitution, must comprise a minimum of three Directors;
the roles of the Chairman of the Board and of the Chief Executive Officer should be exercised by different individuals;
the majority of the Board should comprise Directors who are Non-Executive; and

Directors should bring characteristics which allow a mix of qualifications, skills, experience, expertise and diversity
to the Board.

The Board is currently comprised of three Non-Executive Directors. At all times during the year the Board comprised a
majority of Executive Directors. The skills, experience, expertise, qualifications and terms of office of each Director in
office at the date of the annual report is included in the Directors’ Report.
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2(0)

2(d)

2(¢)

The Company’s constitution requires one-third of the Directors (or the next lowest whole number) to retire by rotation at
each Annual General Meeting (AGM). The Directors to retire at each AGM are those who have been longest in office
since their last election. Where Directors have served for equal periods, they may agree amongst themselves or determine
by lot who will retire. A Director must retire in any event at the third AGM since he or she was last elected or re-elected.
Retiring Directors may offer themselves for re-election.

A Director appointed as an additional or casual Director by the Board will hold office until the next AGM when they may
be re-elected.

The Managing Director is not subject to retirement by rotation and, along with any Director appointed as an additional or
casual Director, is not to be taken into account in determining the number of Directors required to retire by rotation.

Roles of the Chairman and Executive Director

The Chairman is responsible for:
e providing the necessary direction required for an effective Board;

e ensuring that all the Directors receive timely and accurate information so that they can make informed decisions on
matters of the Company;

e ensuring that the Board collectively and individual directors’ performance is assessed annually; and

e encouraging active engagement from all members of the Board.

The Managing Director is responsible for:

e the executive management of the company’s operations;

e policy direction of the operations of the Company;

o the efficient and effective operation of the Company; and

e ensuring all material matters affecting the Company are brought to the Board’s attention.

Board policy specifies that the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separate roles to be
undertaken by separate people. Due to the nature of the company’s current activities it does not currently have a Chief
Executive Officer.

Nomination Committee

The Company does not comply with ASX Recommendation 2.4. The Company is not of a relevant size to consider
formation of a nomination committee to deal with the selection and appointment of new Directors and as such a
nomination committee has not been formed.

Nominations of new Directors are considered by the full Board. If any vacancies arise on the Board, all directors are
involved in the search and recruitment of a replacement. The Board has taken a view that the full Board will hold special
meetings or sessions as required. The Board are confident that this process for selection and review is stringent and full
details of all Directors are provided to shareholders in the annual report and on the Company’s website.

Independent Directors

The Company recognises that independent Directors are important in assuring shareholders that the Board is properly
fulfilling its role and is diligent in holding senior management accountable for its performance. The Board assesses each
of the directors against specific criteria to decide whether they are in a position to exercise independent judgment.

Directors of RPM Automotive Group Limited are considered to be independent when they are independent of

management and free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be

perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement.

In making this assessment, the Board considers all relevant facts and circumstances. Relationships that the Board will

take into consideration when assessing independence are whether a Director:

e s a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial
shareholder of the Company;

o isemployed, orhas previously been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or another Company member,
and there has not been a period of at least three years between ceasing such employment and serving on the Board;

e has within the last three years been a principal of a material professional advisor or a material consultant to the
Company or another Company member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided;

e isamaterial supplier or customer of the Company or other Company member, or an officer of or otherwise associated
directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer; or

e has a material contractual relationship with the Company or another Company member other than as a Director.
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2()

2(g)

2(h)

3.
3(a)

The Board comprised three independent Non-Executive Directors for the year and subsequent to the end of the year two
independent Non-Executive Directors.

In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following Directors of
RPM Automotive Group Limited are considered to be independent:

Name Position
Grant Carman Non-Executive Chairman- Appointed 25 November 2019
Alex Goodman Non-Executive Director — Appointed 18 February 2020
Campbell Welch Non-Executive Director — Resigned 18 February 2020
Scott Brown Non-Executive Director — Resigned 22 November 2019
Robert Downey Non-Executive Director — Resigned 28 August 2019

The following persons hold office as directors of RPM Automotive Group Limited at the date of this report:

Name Term in Office

Grant Carman Appointed 25 November 2019

Clive Finkelstein Executive Director - Appointed 28 August 2019
Lawrence Jaffe Executive Director - Appointed 28 August 2019
Wei Liu Executive Director - Appointed 20 February 2020
Alex Goodman Appointed 18 February 2020

Avoidance of conflicts of interest by a Director

In order to ensure that any interests of a Director in a particular matter to be considered by the Board are known by each
Director, each Director is required by the Company to disclose any relationships, duties or interests held that may give
rise to a potential conflict. Directors are required to adhere strictly to constraints on their participation and voting in
relation to any matters in which they may have an interest.

Board access to information and independent advice
Directors are able to access members of the management team at any time to request relevant information.

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice at the company’s expense.

Review of Board performance

The performance of the Board, collectively and individually, is reviewed annually by the Chairman. The Chairman
conducts performance evaluations which involve an assessment of each Board member’s performance against specific
and measurable qualitative and quantitative performance criteria. The evaluation process is focussed on objective and
tangible criteria such as:

e  Performance of the Company

e  Accomplishment of long term strategic objectives
e  Development of management

e Growth in shareholder value

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

24



RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

3(b)

Given the size and scale of the Company’s operations the full Board undertakes the role of the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee does not comply with ASX Recommendation 4.2 as the Chair of the Board is Chair of the Audit
Committee. The role and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are summarised below.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting and overseeing the
independence of the external auditors. The Board sets aside time to deal with issues and responsibilities usually delegated
to the Audit Committee to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and the independence of the
auditor.

The Board reviews the audited annual and half-year financial statements and any reports which accompany published
financial statements and recommends their approval to the members. The Board also reviews annually the appointment
of the external auditor, their independence and their fees.

The Board is also responsible for establishing policies on risk oversight and management. The Company has not formed
a separate Risk Management Committee due to the size and scale of its operations.

External Auditors

The Company’s policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence. The
performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually and applications for tender of external audit services are
requested as deemed appropriate, taking into consideration assessment of performance, existing value and tender costs. It
is auditor’s policy to rotate engagement partners on listed companies at least every five years. The Company has changed
external auditors during the year.

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services, is provided in the
notes to the financial statements in the Annual Report.

There is no indemnity provided by the company to the auditor in respect of any potential liability to third parties.

The external auditor is requested to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions
about the conduct of the audit and preparation and content of the audit report.

There were no non-audit services provided by the auditors during the year.

Remuneration Committee

The role of a Remuneration Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in respect of establishing
appropriate remuneration levels and incentive policies for employees.

The Board has not established a separate Remuneration Committee due to the size and scale of its operations. This does
not comply with Recommendation 8.1 however the Board as a whole takes responsibility for such issues.

The responsibilities include setting policies for senior officers remuneration, setting the terms and conditions for the
Managing Director, reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s incentive schemes and
superannuation arrangements, reviewing the remuneration of both executive and Non-Executive directors and
undertaking reviews of the Managing Director’s performance.

The Company has structured the remuneration of its senior executives, where applicable, such that it comprises a fixed
salary, statutory superannuation and, where applicable, participation in the Company’s employee share option plan. The
Company believes that by remunerating senior executives in this manner it rewards them for performance and aligns their
interests with those of shareholders and increases the Company’s performance.

Non-Executive directors are paid their fees out of the maximum aggregate amount approved by shareholders for Non-
Executive director remuneration. The Company does not adhere to Recommendation 8.3 Box 8.2 ‘Non-Executive
directors should not receive options or bonus payments’. The Company has and may, in the future, grant options to Non-
Executive directors. The Board is of the view that options (for both executive and Non-Executive directors) are a cost
effective benefit for small companies such as RPM Automotive Group Limited that seek to conserve cash reserves. They
also provide an incentive that ultimately benefits both shareholders and the option holders, as option holders will only
benefit if the market value of the underlying shares exceeds the option strike price. Ultimately, shareholders will make
that determination.

The board policy is to remunerate Directors at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities. The Board
determines payments to the Directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and
accountability. Independent external advice is sought when required. Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to
the performance of the Company. However, to align Directors’ interests with shareholders interests, the Directors are
encouraged to hold shares in the Company.

The Company’s aim is to remunerate at a level that will attract and retain high-calibre directors and employees. Company
officers and Directors are remunerated to a level consistent with the size of the Company.
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4(2)

4(b)

The Board believes that it has implemented suitable practices and procedures that are appropriate for an organisation of
this size and maturity.

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director and Executive
compensation is separate and distinct.

In determining remuneration, the Board has taken a view that the full Board will hold special meetings or sessions as
required. No Director participated in any deliberation regarding his or her own remuneration or related issues. The Board
are confident that this process for determining remuneration is stringent and full details of remuneration policies and
remuneration received by directors and executives in the current period is contained in the “Remuneration Report” within
the Directors’ Report of the Annual Report.

ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION MAKING
Code of Ethics and Conduct

The Board endeavours to ensure that the Directors, officers and employees of the Company act with integrity and observe
the highest standards of behaviour and business ethics in relation to their corporate activities. The “Code of Conduct” sets
out the principles, practices, and standards of personal behaviour the Company expects people to adopt in their daily
business activities.

All Directors, officers and employees are required to comply with the Code of Conduct. Senior managers are expected to
ensure that employees, contractors, consultants, agents and partners under their supervision are aware of the Company’s
expectations as set out in the Code of Conduct.

All Directors, officers and employees are expected to:

e  comply with the law;

e act in the best interests of the Company;

e  be responsible and accountable for their actions; and

o  observe the ethical principles of fairness, honesty and truthfulness, including prompt disclosure of potential conflicts.

Workplace Diversity Policy

Diversity includes, but is not limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background. The Company is committed to
diversity and recognises the benefits arising from employee and board diversity and the importance of benefiting from all
available talent. Accordingly, the Company has established a diversity policy which is available on the Company’s website.

The Board has a commitment to promoting a corporate culture that is supportive of diversity and encourages the transparency
of Board processes, review and appointment of Directors. The Board is responsible for developing policies in relation to the
achievement of measurable diversity objectives and the extent to which they will be linked to the Key Performance Indicators
for the Board, Managing Director and senior executives.

The Company’s strategies may include:

e recruiting from a diverse range of candidates for all positions, including senior executive roles and Board positions;
e  reviewing pre-existing succession plans to ensure that there is a focus on diversity;

e encourage female participation across a range of roles across the Company;

e  review and report on the relative proportion of women and men in the workforce at all levels of the Company;

e articulate a corporate culture which supports workplace diversity and in particular, recognizes that employees at all
levels of the Company may have domestic responsibilities;

e develop programs to encourage a broader pool of skilled and experienced senior management and Board candidates,
including, workplace development programs, mentoring programs and targeted training and development; and

o any other strategies that the Board or the Nomination Committee develops from time to time.

At the date of this report the Company has no executive female employees. The Company utilises the services of a number
of female consultants, in varying roles. No women are currently represented on the Board.

Due to the current size, nature and scale of the Company’s activities the Board has not yet developed objectives regarding
gender diversity. As the size and scale of the Company grows the Board will set and aim to achieve gender diversity

objectives as director and senior executive positions become vacant and appropriately qualified candidates become available.
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5(a)

5(b)

6(a)

TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

Shareholder communication
The Company is committed to:
e  Ensuring that shareholders and the market are provided with full and timely information about its activities;

e  Complying with the continuous disclosure obligations contained in the ASX Listing Rules and the applicable
sections of the Corporations Act 2001; and

e  Providing equal opportunity for all stakeholders to receive externally available information issued by the Company
in a timely manner.

The Company’s Disclosure Policy covers financial markets communication, media contact and continuous disclosure
issues.

All information released to the ASX, after clearance from the ASX will be promptly placed on the Company’s website.
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings. Copies of addresses by the Chairman or Chief Executive
Officer are disclosed to the market and posted on the Company’s website. The Company’s external auditor attends the
Company’s annual general meeting to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the audit report, the accounting policies adopted by the Company and the independence of the auditor in relation
to the conduct of the audit.

Continuous disclosure policy

The Company is committed to ensuring that shareholders and the market are provided with full and timely information
and that all stakeholders have equal opportunities to receive externally available information issued by the Company. The
Company’s “ASX Disclosure Policy” described in 5(a) reinforces the Company’s commitment to continuous disclosure
and outline management’s accountabilities and the processes to be followed for ensuring compliance.

The policy also contains guidelines on information that may be price sensitive. The Company Secretary has been
nominated as the person responsible for communications with the ASX. This role includes responsibility for ensuring
compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements with the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing and coordinating
information disclosure to the ASX.

RECOGNISING AND MANAGING RISK

The Board is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to risk management, compliance and internal
control systems. The Company’s policies are designed to ensure strategic, operational, legal, reputation and financial risks
are identified, assessed, effectively and efficiently managed and monitored to enable achievement of the Company’s
business objectives. A written policy in relation to risk oversight and management has been established. Considerable
importance is placed on maintaining a strong control environment. There is an organisation structure with clearly drawn
responsibilities.

Board oversight of the risk management system

The Company is not currently considered to be of a size, nor is its affairs of such complexity to justify the establishment
of a separate Risk Management Committee. Instead, the Board, as part of its usual role and through direct involvement in
the management of the Company’s operations ensures risks are identified, assessed and appropriately managed. Where
necessary, the Board draws on the expertise of appropriate external consultants to assist in dealing with or mitigating risk.

The Board is responsible for approving and overseeing the risk management system. The Board reviews, at least annually,
the effectiveness of the implementation of the risk management controls and procedures.

The principle aim of the system of internal control is the management of business risks, with a view to enhancing the
value of shareholders' investments and safeguarding assets. Although no system of internal control can provide absolute
assurance that the business risks will be fully mitigated, the internal control systems have been designed to meet the
Company's specific needs and the risks to which it is exposed.

Annually, the Board is responsible for identifying the risks facing the Company, assessing the risks and ensuring that
there are controls for these risks, which are to be designed to ensure that any identified risk is reduced to an acceptable
level.

The Board is also responsible for identifying and monitoring areas of significant business risk. Internal control measures
currently adopted by the Board include:

o monthly reporting to the Board in respect of operations and the Company’s financial position, with a comparison of

actual results against budget; and
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o regularreports to the Board by appropriate members of the management team and/or independent advisers, outlining
the nature of particular risks and highlighting measures which are either in place or can be adopted to manage or
mitigate those risks.

6(b) Risk management roles and responsibilities

6(c)

6(d)

The Board is responsible for approving and reviewing the Company’s risk management strategy and policy. Executive
management is responsible for implementing the Board approved risk management strategy and developing policies,
controls, processes and procedures to identify and manage risks in all of the Company’s activities.

The Board is responsible for satisfying itself that management has developed and implemented a sound system of risk
management and internal control.

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certification

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, or equivalent, provide to the Board written certification that in

all material respects:

e  The Company’s financial statements present a true and fair view of the Company’s financial condition and
operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards;

e  The statement given to the Board on the integrity of the Company’s financial statements is founded on a sound
system of risk management and internal compliance and controls which implements the policies adopted by the
Board; and

e The Company’s risk management an internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively
in all material respects.

Internal review and risk evaluation

Assurance is provided to the Board by executive management on the adequacy and effectiveness of management controls
for risk on a regular basis.

Trading in Company securities by directors and employees

The Board has adopted a Securities Trading Policy which complies with the requirements of Listing Rule 12.12 which
regulates dealings by Directors, officers and employees in securities issued by the Company.

The policy, which is available on the Company’s website, includes the Company’s closed periods, restrictions on trading
that apply to the Company’s key management personal, trading that is not subject to the policy, exceptional circumstances
in which key management personnel may be permitted to trade during a prohibited period with prior written clearance
and the procedure for obtaining written clearance. The policy provides that employees, directors and officers must not
enter into transactions or arrangements which operate to limit the economic risk of their security holding in the Company
without first seeking and obtaining written acknowledgement from the Board.
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Consolidated
2020 2019

Note ) $
Continuing operations
Revenue 4(a) 32,469,938 7,707,727
Cost of Goods Sold (21,201,063) (4,200,116)
Gross Profit 11,268,875 3,507,611
Other income 4(b) 2,509,642 134,222
Employee benefits expense 4(c) (6,240,205) (1,431,396)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 4o (872,351) (71,075)
Occupancy expense 4(¢c) (541,978) (338,252)
Other expenses 4(c) (3,956,288) (827,994)
Operating Profit 2,167,695 973,116
Finance Income 5,483 703
Finance Costs (415,621) (118,921)
Net Finance Costs (410,138) (118,218)
Profit/(loss) after finance costs 1,757,557 854,898
Listing expense on reverse acquisition 2 (3,097,812) -
Profit/(loss) before income tax (1,340,255) 854,898
Income tax (expense) ‘ 5 (171,975) 217,111)
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations attributable to the (1,512,230) 637,787
members
Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss - -
Other Comprehensive income, net of tax - -
Total Comprehensive Income (loss) for the year attributable to members 1,512,230) 637,787
Earnings Per Share
Profit / (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
(basic and diluted)
From continuing operations 6 (1.99)cents 2.9cents

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes
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AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Other assets

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Trade and other receivables
Right of use assets

Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Borrowings

Current tax liabilities
Provisions

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities

Borrowings

Total Non-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Retained Earnings

Total Equity

Note

10
5,18

11

12

13
14
15
16
17

14
15

19

Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $
2,083,173 81,334
5,936,536 196,466
6,703,163 2,853,727
29,179 18,344
14,752,051 3,149,871
87,908 23,286
2,254,587 -
203,340 -
2,126,680 341,695
13,717,351 797,308
18,389,866 1,162,289
33,141,917 4,312,160
7,000,989 565,008
646,240 -
1,759,228 660,388
294,358 285,583
628,238 211,807
10,329,053 1,722,786
1,673,290 -
3,963,942 1,601,141
5,637,232 1,601,141
15,966,285 3,323,927
17,175,632 988,233
17,699,647 18
(524,015) 988,215
17,175,632 988,233

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance at 30 June 2018

Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period
Transfer of reserve to accumulated losses

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, and
other transfers

Dividends paid for the period

Total transactions with owners and other transfers

Balance at 30 June 2019

Profit (Loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, and
other transfers

Transfer to share based payment reserve

Deemed value of RPM shares upon acquisition
Share issued during the period

Capital raising costs

Total transaction with owners and other transfer

Balance at 30 June 2020

Issued Retained
Capital Reserve Earnings Total
3 3 5 3

18 (85,484) 555,912 470,446
- - 637,787 637,787
- - 637,787 637,787
- 85,484 (85,484) -
) B (120,000) (120,000)
) i (120,000) (120,000)
18 988,215 988,233
- - (1,512,230)  (1,512,230)
- - (1,512,230)  (1,512,230)
2,358,936 - - 2,358,936
15,552,091 - - 15,552,091
(211,398) - - (211,398)
17,699,629 - - 17,699,629
17,699,647 - (524,015) 17,175,632

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest and dividends received
Finance costs

Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

Net cash outflow from business combination

Net cash (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Advanced from / (Repayment) of loan to related entities

Repayment of lease principal
Proceed from issue of shares
Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment for borrowings

Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held
Cash at the beginning of the financial year
Effect of exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Consolidated
2020 2019
Note $ $
36,592,089 8,626,670
(37,558,532) (7,839,989)
5,483 703
(415,621) (118,921)
- (247,447)
7(ii) (1,376,581) 421,016
(24,460) -
- 16,856
(606,161) -
(630,621) 16,856
- (244,051)
(579,769) -
2,458,695 -
2,539,707 -
(384,054) (183,131)
4,034,579 (427,182)
2,027,377 10,690
81,334 70,644
(25,538) -
7(i) 2,083,173 81,334

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Corporate Information

The financial report of RPM Automotive Group Limited (‘RPM” or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
for the year ended 30 June 2020 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 30t
September 2020. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

RPM is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia. Its shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities
Exchange. The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

These general purpose consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and in compliance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The Group
is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. Material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless
stated otherwise.

Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets
and financial liabilities. The financial report is presented in Australian dollars rounded to the nearest $1.

Going concern and Covid -19

The COVID-19 pandemic developed rapidly in 2020. The resulting impact of the virus on the operations and the measures
taken by the various level of governments to contain the virus have had an impact on the Company results in the reporting
period. The current known impacts of the COVID-19 on the Company are:

A partial decline in revenues for the March 2020 to June 2020 period including the hibernation of our Revolution Racegear
retail outlets and reduction of trading hours in our two retail tyre stores.

The Accessories and Repairs and Roadside divisions continued to operate with reduced staff levels.

The Tyre Division was able to continue supply of imported product to the market and increased market share as other
wholesalers were unable to supply product. The Company sales increased in this segment over this period.

This is the first year of trading as a ASX Listed entity and the Company has incurred significant expenditure on the cost of
listing and the reverse takeover transaction. Subsequent to the relisting Management has invested time into business and
reporting processes across the segments of the Company.

The bank loan is secured by RPM Holdings Pty Ltd The covenant imposed by the bank in respect to this loan as at 30
June 2020 was in breach of the DEBT/ EBITDA covenant due to the additional costs associated with the listing of the
businesses on the ASX during the year. The bank when setting up the facility were aware of these costs and acknowledged
that it would breach our covenant. As a result and even though the covenants are tested in December 2020 the directors
approached the bank in advance. The bank on this occasion have taken no action with the breach and the next testing date
attached to the bank facility is at 31% December 2021. (Refer Note 15 Borrowings).

That despite the above matters, the Company has taken the following actions:

We have already announced the takeover of two additional business (Gully Mobile Tyres and Citic Tyres) which are
cashflow positive (Refer Note 27 Subsequent events),

We have obtained from acknowledgement of the breach from our lenders and their support to correct the breach over the
period to 31% December 2020 as noted above,

We have restructured our labour force and continue to review and eliminate expenditure wherever possible.

After consideration of the above factors and circumstances the Directors have determined that these financial statements
be prepared on a going concern basis.
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Accounting Policies

The following accounting policies and methods of computation have been followed in this financial report.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the Parent RPM Automotive
Group Limited and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured entities). Subsidiaries are entities the Parent controls.
The Parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the Group from
the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the date that
control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between Group
entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments
made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

The Consolidated Entity has adopted all new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB interpretations
(including AASB 16 Leases as further discussed below), which were applicable as of 1 July 2019. Adoption of other
new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB interpretations did not have any effect on the financial
position or performance of the Consolidated Entity.

The Consolidated Entity has not elected to early adopt any new standards or amendments

Reverse Asset Acquisition (refer Note 2)

In 2018 RPM Automotive Group Limited (formerly Kairiki Energy Limited) (“RPM1”) entered into binding agreements
to acquire 100% of the businesses that comprise the RPM Group. The proposed transaction enabled the RPM Group to
obtain listing on the ASX via a Reverse Take-Over (RTO) of the Company. The vendors of the businesses being acquired
received a mixture of shares in the Company and cash as consideration for the acquisitions. As a part of the proposed
transaction the Company changed its name from Kairiki Energy Limited to RPM Automotive Group Limited. The
transactions. The date for the acquisition transaction has been identified as 1 July 2019 being the date of effective control.

The acquisition has been accounted for using the principles for reverse acquisitions in AASB 3 Business Combinations
because, as a result of the Acquisition, the former shareholders of the RPM group entities (the legal acquiree) obtained
accounting control of RPMI (the legal parent). RPM1 has been treated as the accounting acquiree. In accordance with
the principles of AASB 3 in a multiple entity combination transaction, one of the combining entities that existed before
the business combination shall be identified as the accounting acquirer for the transaction, this has been identified as
Revolution Racegear Pty Ltd (‘REV™).

The Acquisition of REV did not meet the definition of a business combination in accordance with AASB 3 Business
Combinations as the acquiree was deemed not to be a business for accounting purposes and, therefore, the transaction
was not a business combination within the scope of AASB 3. Instead the Acquisition has been accounted for as a share-
based payment transaction using the principles of share based payment transactions in AASB 2, and in particular the
guidance in AASB 2 that any difference between the fair value of the shares issued by the accounting acquirer (REV)
and the fair value of the accounting acquiree’s (RPM1's) identifiable net assets represents a service received by REV,
including payment for a service of an ASX stock exchange listing which will be expensed through the consolidated
entity's profit and loss statement in the year ended 30" June 2020.

The acquisition of the other RPM group entities have been assessed under AASB 3 and accounted for as business
combinations in accordance with AASB 3 with REV as the accounting acquiror.

Accordingly the consolidated financial report of the Group has been prepared as a continuation of the business and
operations of REV with one adjustment being the retrospective adjustment of the REV legal capital to reflect the capital
of RPM1. The comparative information for the year ended 30" June 2019 and as at 30% June 2019 presented in the
financial report are those of REV only.

The impact of the reverse asset acquisition on each of the primary statements is as follows:

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

° The statement for the period ended 30 June 2020 comprises!2 months of operating results of RPM1 and all
acquired RPM Group businesses
° The statement for the period to 30 June 2019 comprises 12 months of operating results REV.

34



RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of financial position:

e The consolidated statement of financial position at 30 June 2020 contains the assets and liabilities of RPM1,
including all acquired businesses, as at that date.

® The consolidated statement of financial position at 30 June 2019 represents the assets and liabilities of REV as
at that date.

Statement of changes in equity:

° The consolidated statement of changes in equity for the period ended 30 June 2020 comprises the REV balance
at 1 July 2019, the profit/loss for the 12 months and transactions with equity holders for the 12 months of RPMI.
e The consolidated statement of changes in equity for the period ended 30 June 2019 comprises 12 months of

REV's changes in equity.
Statement of cash flows:

e The consolidated cash flow statement for the period ended 30 June 2020 comprises the cash balance of REV,
as at 1 July 2019, the cash transactions for the 12 months of theGroup and the cash balance of the Group at 30 June
2020.

° The consolidated cash flow statement for the period ended 30 June 2019 comprises 12 months of REV cash
transactions.

References throughout the financial statements to “reverse acquisition” or “reverse takeover” are in reference to the
above-mentioned Acquisition and the accounting treatment described above.

Business combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination involving entities
or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for from the date that control is
obtained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities)
assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions).

When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent consideration
classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any
change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date.

All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations, other than those associated with the issue of a
financial instrument, are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred.

The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.

Goodwill

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the sum of:

@) the consideration transferred at fair value;
(ii) any non-controlling interest (determined under either the fair value or proportionate interest method); and
(iii) the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest;

over the acquisition date fair value of any identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the acquisition date fair
value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in the separate financial statements.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored and not larger than an operating segment.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity disposed of.

Income Tax

The income tax expense (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred tax expense
(income).

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for the current period. Current
tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority
using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year.

A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred
tax liability arises from: (a) the initial recognition of goodwill; or (b) the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction which: (i) is not a business combination; and (ii) at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting
profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised,
unless the deferred tax asset relating to temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that:

— is not a business combination; and
- at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, depending
on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly
(ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement date.

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to
determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific
asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one
or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market
data.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of manufactured products includes direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. Overheads are applied on the
basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned on the basis of weighted average costs.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated
recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and
impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss .A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment
indicators are present.
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The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the
recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows
that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been
discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised leased assets, but excluding freehold land,
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the Consolidated Group commencing from the time
the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period
of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

Memorabilia assets are not depreciated and held based on Directors valuation.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate
Leasehold improvements 10-50%

Plant and equipment 5-20%

Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Gains shall not be classified as revenue. When revalued
assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

Leases

The Group as lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease present, a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability are recognised by the Group where the Group is a lessee. However, all
contracts that are classified as short-term leases (ie a lease with a remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Initially the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at the commencement
date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:
- fixed lease payments less any lease incentives;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
- lease payments under extension options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.
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The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs. The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets
is at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is the shortest.

Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.

Initial Application of AASB 16:Leases

The Group has adopted AASB 16: Leases retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying AASB 16
recognised at 1 July 2019. In accordance with AASB 16 the comparatives for the 2019 reporting period have not been

restated.

The Group has recognised a lease liability and right-of-use asset for all leases (with the exception of short-term and
low-value leases) recognised as operating leases under AASB 117:  Leases where the Group is the lessee.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments. The Group's incremental borrowing
rate as at 1 July 2019 was used to discount the lease payments.

The following practical expedients have been used by the Group in applying AASB 16 for the first time:

- For a portfolio of leases that have reasonably similar characteristics, a single discount rate has been
applied.

- Leases that have remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 July 2019 have been accounted for
in the same was as short-term leases.

- The use of hindsight to determine lease terms on contracts that have options to extend or terminate.

- Applying AASB 16 to leases previously identified as leases under AASB 117:  Leases and Interpretation
4: Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease without reassessing whether they are, or contain,
a lease at the date of initial application.

- Not applying AASB 16 to leases previously not identified as containing a lease under AASB 117 and
Interpretation 4.

The Group’s weighted average incremental borrowing rate on 1 July 2019 applied to the lease liabilities was 4.4%.

Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions to
the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the Group commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the

asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except
where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case transaction costs are expensed to
profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other

circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain a significant
financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in AASB 15.63 .
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Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at:

- amortised cost; or
- fair value through profit or loss.
A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is:

- a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business
Combinations applies;

- held for trading; or
- initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial
asset or liability. That is, it is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of
the instrument to the net carrying amount at initial recognition.

A financial Hability is held for trading if:
- it is incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term;
- part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or

Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of
a designated hedging relationship are recognised in profit or loss.

The change in fair value of the financial liability atiributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is taken to other
comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, they are transferred to retained
earnings upon de-recognition of the financial liability. If taking the change in credit risk in other comprehensive income
enlarges or creates an accounting mismatch, then these gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other
comprehensive income.

A financial liability cannot be reclassified.

Financial assets
Financial assets are subsequently measured at:
— amortised cost;

- fair value through other comprehensive income; or

- fair value through profit or loss.

Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria:

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and

- the business model for managing the financial assets.
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A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:
- the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income:

- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates;

- the business model for managing the financial assets comprises both contractual cash flows collection and
the selling of the financial asset.

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and fair value
through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if:

- it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to as
"accounting mismatch") that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases;

- it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about
the groupings was documented appropriately, so that the performance of the financial liability that was
part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and evaluated consistently on a
fair value basis;

- it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows
otherwise required by the contract.

The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a one-time option
on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised at settlement date in accordance
with the Group's accounting policy.

De-recognition

De-recognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from the statement
of financial position.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified terms, or a substantial
modification to the terms of a financial liability is treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition
of a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

De-recognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset is transferred
in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.

All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for de-recognition of financial asset:

40



RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;
- all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and

- the Group no longer controls the asset (ie the Group has no practical ability to make a unilateral decision
to sell the asset to a third party).

On de-recognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On de-recognition of a debt instrument classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On de-recognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value through other
comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:

- financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income;
loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and

- financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Loss allowance is not recognised for:

- financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or
- equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a financial
instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cashflows that are due and all cashflows expected to
be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial instrument.

The Group uses the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial Instruments:
- the simplified approach

Simplified Approach
The simplified approach does not require tracking of charges in credit risk at every reporting period, but instead requires
the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. This approach is applicable to:

- trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions within the scope of AASB 15 : Revenue
firom Contracts with Customers and which do not contain a significant financing component; and

- lease receivables.
In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables was used taking into consideration

various data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of customer base, appropriate groupings of historical loss
experience, etc).
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Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements

At each reporting date, the Group recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain or loss in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating to that asset.

Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts in relation to change in credit risk are transferred from other
comprehensive income to profit or loss at every reporting period.

For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees), a provision for
loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss allowance.

Impairment of Assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of the
asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, to the asset’s carrying amount.
Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (eg in accordance with the revaluation
model in AASB 116 : Property, Plant and Equipment ). Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a
revaluation decrease in accordance with that other Standard.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Intangible Assets Other than Goodwill
Trademarks and licences

Patents and trademarks are recognised at cost of acquisition. They have a finite life and are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Patents and trademarks are amortised over their useful lives
ranging from 15 to 20 years.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional
currency of all the entities in the group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date
of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items
measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss, except exchange
differences that arise from net investment hedges.
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Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income to the extent that the underlying gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income; otherwise the
exchange difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the
annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave.
Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is
settled.

The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are recognised as part
of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. The Group’s obligations for employees’ annual
leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as provisions in the statement of financial position

Other long-term employee benefits

Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Other
long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to
employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and
employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting
period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Any re-
measurements for changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit
or loss in the periods in which the changes occur.

The Group’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its statement of
financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-term highly

liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are reported
within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Revenue and Other Income

Revenue recognition
Revenue generated by the Group is categorised into the following reportable segments:

() Motorsport
° Sale of specialised motorsport accessories
o Manufacture and sale of FIA accredited motorsport racing suits using our trademarked RPM branding which

is recognised and associated with our Revolution Racegear retail outlets.

(ii) Repairs and Roadside

) Carline licensee of auto repair workshops

o Roadside assistance specialising in Tyre repair and replacement for the Trucking and Large plant and
equipment.

° Two company owned retail outlets
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(iii) Wheels and Tyres

® Wholesale of Truck, Heavy Equipment and Motor vehicle tyres.
(iv) Accessories
o Manufacture of specialised automotive accessories for the automotive aftermarket.

The Group recognises revenue as follows:

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to their customers. For each contract with a customer, the Group:

e identifies the contract with a customer;

o identifies the performance obligations in the contract;

o determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value
of money;

e allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone
selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and

o recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to

the customer of the goods or services promised.

Variable consideration within the transaction price if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as
discounts, rebates and refunds and any other contingent events. Such estimates are determined using either the ‘expected
value’ or ‘most likely amount method’. The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle
whereby revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle
are initially recognised as deferred revenue in the form of a separate refund liability.

Motorsport

Revenue from the sale of motorsports clothing, parts and accessories is recognised at the point in time when the buyer
obtains control of the goods, which is generally at the point of time of purchase of the goods by the customer.

Repairs and Roadside

Repairs and Roadside service work on customers vehicles is carried out under instructions from the customer. Repairs
and Roadside service is recognised over time based on either a fixed price or hourly rate. Revenue arising from the sale
of parts fitted to customers vehicles during the Repairs and Roadside service is recognised at the point of time upon
delivery of the fitted part to the customer upon completion of the service.

Revenue from retail sale and fitment of tyres on customer’s vehicles is carried out under instructions from the customer.
Retail revenue is recognised over time based on either a fixed price or hourly rate. Revenue arising from the sale of parts
fitted to customers vehicles during the retail sale and fitment service is recognised at the point of time upon delivery of
the fitted part to the customer upon completion of the service.

Wheels and Tyres

Revenue from the wholesale of tyres is recognised at the point in time when the buyer obtains control of the goods,
which is generally at the point of time of delivery of the goods.

Performance & Accessories

Revenue from accessories is recognised at the point of time when the buyer obtains control of the goods, which is
generally at the time of delivery of the vehicle.

Commercial Rebates

Commercial rebates are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain unpaid at the
end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30
days of recognition of the liability. Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale are added to the cost of those assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial
position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts
from customers or payments to suppliers.

Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation
for the current financial year.

The comparative figures are those of Revolution Racegear Pty Ltd.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs
of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:

. costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

= the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been
recognised as expenses; and

] other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution

of potential ordinary shares; divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary
shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial
information is available. Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the chief
operating decision makers, being the executive management team.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge
and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on
current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group.

Key estimates

®

Impairment

The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating the conditions and events specific
to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers for relevant assets. Recoverable amounts of relevant
assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.

Goodwill

Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (CGU) according to
management’s expectations regarding which assets will be expected to benefit from the synergies arising from the
business combination that gave rise to the goodwill. The recoverable amount of a CGU is based on value in use
calculations. These calculations are based on projected cashflows approved by management. Managements
determination of cash flow projections and gross margins are based on past performance and its expectations for
the future. The present value of future cash flows has been calculated based on the key assumptions as disclosed
in note 12 of the financial statements.

Inventories

Management has assessed the value of inventory which is likely to be sold below cost/written off in future periods.
This analysis is based on past experience and judgement on the likely sell through rates of various lines of
inventory. Based on managements analysis no provision has been deemed required at 30 June 2020

Key judgements

@

(ii)

Performance obligations under AASB 15

To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to
determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the promise is
sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit,
regarding the promised goods or services. In making this assessment, management includes the nature/ type, cost/
value, quantity and the period of transfer related to the goods or services promised.

Lease term and Option to Extend under AASB 16

The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with both periods covered by an option
to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and also periods covered by an option
to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. The decision on whether or not
the options to extend are reasonably going to be exercised is a key management judgement that the entity will
make. The Group determines the likeliness to exercise on a lease-by-lease basis looking at various factors such as
which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the entity.

New accounting standards and interpretations

New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet
mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Company for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2020. The
Company’s assessment of the impact of relevant new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most
relevant to the Company is not material and have minimal impact on the financial statements.
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2. Reverse Takeover

On 1% July 2019, the Company formerly named Kairiki Energy Limited completed the 100% acquisition of Revolution
Racegear Pty Ltd (REV) and changed its name to RPM Automotive Group Limited. The acquisition of REV resulted in the
shareholders of REV obtaining control of the merged entity. In addition, the Board of Directors of the merged entity was
restructured such that two of the four Directors was comprised of REV nominees.

Nominees of REV serve as Chief Executive Officer and the REV management team has assumed responsibility for the
management of the merged entity. Consequently, the acquisition has been accounted for with reference to the guidance for
reverse acquisitions set out in AASB 3 “Business Combinations”.

The application of the reverse acquisition guidance contained in AASB 3 has resulted in the Company (the legal parent) being
accounted for as the subsidiary and REV (the legal subsidiary) being accounted for as the parent entity.

At the time the Company’s acquisition of REV completed, its operations did not fall within the scope of a “business” under
AASB 3. Consequently, the acquisition did not meet the definition of a “business combination” under AASB 3, and the
principles of AASB 3 could not be applied in their entirety.

Instead the acquisition has been accounted for as a “Share-based Payment” whereby REV is deemed to have issued shares in
exchange for the net assets and listing status of RPM Automotive Group. In accordance with AASB 2, the difference between
the fair value of the deemed consideration paid by REV and the fair value of the identifiable net assets of RPM Automotive
Group, is required to be recognised as an expense.

Details of the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and the excess consideration are set out below.

Consolidated
2020
$

Deemed Purchase Consideration
Deemed Fair Value of Consideration Shares paid on Acquisition 2,358,936
Cash and equivalents (19,983)
Trade and other receivables 141,287
Listing expenses recognised on reverse acquisition 2,480,240
Other Share Listing expenses 617,572

3,097,812
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3. Business Combinations

Under the adopted accounting policy for the reverse acquisition on 1 July 2019, the Company formerly named Revolution
Racegear Pty Ltd completed the 100% acquisition of RPM Automotive Group of entities.

Details of the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and the excess consideration are set out below.

Consolidated
2020
$

Deemed Purchase Consideration
Fair value of cash and shares transferred 15,012,789
Less Fair Value of net identifiable assets acquired 2,146,173
Excess Consideration — Goodwill on Acquisition 12,866,616

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Company at the date of acquisition was as follows:

Cash and equivalents 498,844
Trade and other receivables 4,041,541
Inventory 2,648,682
Property Plant and Equipment 1,120,846
Intangibles 1,860
Other Assets 135,301
Liabilities

Trade and other payables (4,160,198)
Provisions (252,124)
Taxation (117,584)
Borrowings (1,770,995)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 2,146,173

The goodwill is attributable to the profitability of the acquired business, assembled workforce and significant synergies that are

expected to arise from the group’s operations.
The goodwill that arose from the business combination is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Contributions since acquisitions

For the financial year 30™ June 2020 the business acquired contributed revenue of $27,296,952 and a profit after listing expenses

and tax of $(1,027,107) which is included in the consolidated profit/loss for the year.
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Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $
4. Revenue and Expenses
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of Goods/services 32,469,938 7,707,727
32,469,938 7,707,727
Disaggregation of revenue with customers
Revenue is disaggregated by geography and nature of goods/services
Performance
Motor-sport Repairs & Roadside Wheels & Total
Accessories
Australia 5,172,986 12,058,683 12,035,092 3203,177 32,469,938
Total 5,172,986 12,058,683 12,035,092 3203,177 32,469,938
(b) Other Income
Other Income 1,751,382 134,222
Gain on Sale of Assets 758,260 -
2,509,642 134,222
(c) Expenses
Expenses include:
Employee benefits expense:
Salaries, wages and directors’ fees 5,474,850 1,314,042
Superannuation expense 446,799 117,354
Other employee related expenses 318,556 -
6,240,205 1,431,396
Depreciation
Property Plant and Equipment 227,640 71,075
Total Depreciation 227,640 71,075
Amortisation
Right of Use Assets 644,711 -
Total Amortisation 644,711 -
Total Depreciation and Amortisation 872,351 71,075
Occupancy Expenses
Rental expenses on short term operating leases 355,415 308,505
Other occupancy expenses 186,563 29,747
Total Occupancy Expenses 541,978 338,252
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Other Expenses

Advertising

Bad Debts

Distribution Costs

Motor vehicles

Other expenses
Total Other Expenses

5. Income Tax

(a) The major components of income tax are:

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Current income tax

Deferred income tax

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income

(b) Income Tax Reconciliation

The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting loss before income
tax multiplied by the Company’s applicable income tax rate is as follows:

Loss before tax from continuing operations
Profit / (loss) before tax from discontinued operations

Profit / (loss) before income tax

Prima facie Income tax expense / (benefit) at 27.5% (2019: 27.5%)
Add:

Tax effect of:

- Non allowable items

Less:

Tax effect of:

- Non assessable items

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income

The weighted average effective tax rates are as follows:

(¢) Deferred Income Tax

Deferred Tax Assets

Provisions

Lease liability ( net of right of use assets)

The balance of the franking account at year end was Nil.

Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $
312,007 124,203
176,341 -
1,216,879 103,716
305,128 33,112
1,945,933 566,963
3,956,288 827,994
375,315 217,111
(203,340) -
171,975 217,111
(1,340,255) 854,898
(1,340,255) 854,898
(311,353) 217,111
851,898 -
(338,110)

171,975 217,111
(12.83%) 25.39%
185,480 -
17,860 -
203,340 -
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6. Earnings per Share

In accordance with the principles of reverse acquisition accounting, the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period ended 30" June 2019 has been
calculated as the weighted average number of ordinary shares of Revolution Racegear Pty Ltd
outstanding during the period before acquisition multiplied by the exchange ratio established
in the acquisition accounting.

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic
earnings per share is as follows:

Profit /(loss) after income tax attributable to the owners of RPM Automotive Group Ltd

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per
share
Profit/(Loss) per share -Cents

Options on issue at year end are not dilutive and hence not used in the

calculation of diluted EPS

Diluted earnings per share do not differ from the basis earnings per share and therefore are not
separately disclosed.

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand

i Reconciliation cash

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of
cashflows is reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

(ii) Reconciliation of the loss for the year to net cash flows used in operating
activities

Profit / (loss) for the year

Add/ (Less) non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation

Foreign Currency Exchanges
Net business acquisition adjustments

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
(Increase) / decrease in other assets
(Decrease)/Increase in payables
(Decrease)/Increase in tax liabilities

(Decrease)/Increase in provisions
Net cash flows used in operating activities

(iii) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities

Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $
(1,512,230) 637,787
Number Number
75,775,659 21,600,000
(1.99)cents 2.9cents
8,982,698 -
2,083,173 81,334
2,083,173 81,334
(1,512,230) 637,787
873,751 71,075
25,537 -
2,243,476 -
(5,804,691) 627
(3,849,436) (245,180)
(10,835) (11,255)
6,435,981 (22,980)
(194,566) (30,336)
416,432 21,278
(1,376,581) 421,016

There were no non-cash financing or investing activities during the years ended 30 June 2020 or 30 June 2019.
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Consolidated
8. Trade and Other Receivables 2020 2019
$ $
Current
Trade Debtors 4,244,596 149,687
Less Allowance of credit losses (46,236) -
Other receivables 407,915 46779
Receivable from sale of assets 750,000 -
Receivable from a related party 580,261 -
Total Current 5,936,536 196,466
Non-Current
Deposits 87,908 23,286
6,024,444 219,752

Receivable from sale of assets is the amount due under binding Royalty Sale and Purchase Agreement pursuant to which RPM
has sold a royalty on select tenements within Black Cat Syndicate Limited’s advanced exploration state Bulong Gold Project to
Vox Royalty Group. The consideration is $750,000 comprising $400,000 in cash and $350,000 in Vox Royalty Corp Shares.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The loss allowance provision as at 30™ June 2020 is determined based on weighted average expected losses as
determined from managements assessment.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime expected credit loss that has been recognised for trade and other receivables
in accordance with the simplified approach set out in AASB 9: Financial Instruments.

Net measure-
ment of loss Amounts
Opening balance allowance written off  Closing balance

1 July 2018 30 June 2019

a.  Lifetime Expected Credit Loss: Credit
Impaired

(i)  Current trade receivables - - - -

Net measure-

ment of loss Amounts
Opening balance allowance written off  Closing balance
1 July 2019 30 June 2020
(i)  Current trade receivables - (46,236) - (46,236)
- (46,236) - (46,236)

Fair Value and Risk Exposures
(i) Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
As at 30% June 2020, an aging analysis of those trade receivables are as follows:

Not overdue 2,219,919 91,993
| - 30 Days 1,000,354 48,740
3160+ Days 978,087 8,954

4,198,360 149,687
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Consolidated

9. Inventories 2020 2019

$ $
Current
Finished Products 5,396,121 2,853,727
Goods in transit 1,054,332 -
Work in progress 252,710 _
Total Inventories 6,703,163 2,853,727

Management has assessed the value of inventory which is likely to be sold below cost/written off in the future periods. This
analysis is based on past experience, recoverability from the Business Sales Agreements inventory terms for each business and
judgements on the likely sell through rates of various lines of inventory. Based on managements analysis no provision has been

deemed to be required at 30 June 2020.

10. Right of use assets

The Group's lease portfolio includes premises in different locations. These leases have a term from 5 to 10 years including the

option to extend.

Options to Extend or Terminate

The options to extend or terminate are contained in several of the property leases of the Group. These clauses provide the Group

opportunities to manage leases in order to align with its strategies. All of the extension or termination options are only

exercisable by the Group. The extension options or termination options which management were reasonably certain to be

exercised have been included in the calculation of the lease liability.
6)] AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the statement of financial position:

Right-of-use assets

Leased building 2,899,298
Accumulated depreciation (644,711)
2,254,587

Movement in carrying amounts:

Recognised on initial application of AASB 16 (previously classified as operating leases 2,899,298
under AASB 117)

Depreciation expenses (644,711)
Net carrying amount 2,254,587
(i) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss:

Depreciation charge related to right of use assets 644,711
Interest expense on lease liabilities 109,574
Total cash outflow in relation to leases 681,548
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Consolidated
11. Property, plant and equipment 2020 2019
$ )
Leasehold Improvements 210,000 272,174
Less accumulated depreciation (42,000) (72,094)
Total Leasehold Improvements 168,000 200,080
Plant & Equipment 1,291,556 141,615
Less accumulated depreciation (115,832) -
Total Plant and Equipment 1,175,724 141,615
Motor Vehicles 402,764
Less accumulated depreciation (69,808) -
Total Motor Vehicles 332,956 -
Memorabilia 450,000 -
Total Property Plant and Equipment 2,126,680 341,695
Movements in Carrying Amounts
Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and end of the
current financial year:
Property Plant and
Improvement Equipment Motor Total
Vehicles
Consolidated
Balance at 1 July 2018 271,155 141,615 - 412,770
Additions -
Disposals - - - -
Depreciation expense (71,075) - - (71,075)
Balance at 30 June 2019 200,080 141,615 - 341,695
Property Plant and Motor
Improvement Equipment Memorabilia Vehicles Total
Consolidated
Balance at 1 July 2019
200,080 141,615 - - 341,695
Additions - 88,011 - 80,664 168,675
Disposals - (145,615) - - (145,615)
Acquisitions through business
combination
9,920 1,207,545 450,000 322,100 1,989,565
Depreciation expense
(42,000) (115,832) - (69,808) (227,640)
Balance at 30 June 2020
168,000 1,175,724 450,000 332,956 2,126,680
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12, Intangible assets

Goodwill
Patents and trademarks & others

Total Intangible Assets

Consolidated Group:
Year ended 30 June 2019

Balance at the beginning of the year

Year ended 30 June 2020
Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions

Acquisitions through business combinations

Closing value at 30 June 2020

Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $
13,466,616 600,000
250,735 197,308
13,717,351 797,308
Patents,
Trademarks
Goodwill & others
600,000 197,308
600,000 197,308
600,000 197,308
- 53,427
12,866,616 -
13,466,616 250,735

As per group policies, patents and trademarks are amortised over their expected useful life. Management has determined that as

at 30" June 2020 the current years amortisation is immaterial and has not been accounted for.

The recoverable amount of each cash generating unit below is determined based on value-in-use calculations. Value-in use is
calculated based on the present value of the cashflow projections over a five year period. The cash flows are discounted using the

yield of a 5 year weighted average cost of capital (WACC) at the beginning of the period.

The following key assumptions were used in the value-in use calculations:

Average
Growth Rate
Motorsport 7.5%
Repairs & Roadside 7.5%
Tyres 7.5%
Accessories 7.5%

Discount
Rate

10%
10%
10%
10%

Management has based the value-in-use calculations on budgets for each reporting segment. These budgets use current results and
management assumptions of growth rates to project revenue. Costs are calculated taking into account historical gross margins.

Discount rates are pre-tax and are adjusted to incorporate risks associated with a particular segment.

No reasonably possible changes in any of the key assumptions would result in a statutory impairment.
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Consolidated
13. Trade and Other Payables 2020 2019
$ $
Current
Trade creditors 5,908,407 379,492
Other creditors 196,363 141,229
ATO Liabilities 896,219 44,287
Total Trade and Other Payables 7,000,989 565,008
Fair Value and Risk Exposures
(i)  Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
(i)  Details regarding liquidity risk are disclosed in Note 24.
Trade and other payables are unsecured and usually paid within 60 days of recognition.
14. Lease liabilities
The following information relates to the current reporting period only and is presented in
accordance with AASB 16 Leases (which was applied by the Group for the first time in the
current reporting period. Also refer to Note 10.
Lease Liabilities
Current lease liabilities 646,240 -
Non-current lease liabilities 1,673,290 -
2,319,530 -
15. Borrowings
Current
Bank borrowings 1,100,457 15,708
Related party loans 658,771 644,680
1,759,228 660,388
Non Current
Bank borrowings 3,260,180 1,601,141
Related party loans 703,762 -
3,963,942 1,601,141

The bank loans are secured over all present and future rights, property and undertakings of RPM Automotive Group Ltd and the

following subsidiary — RPM Automotive Holdings Pty Ltd.

The covenant imposed by the bank in respect to this loan as at 30 June 2020 was in breach of the DEBT/ EBITDA covenant due
to the additional costs associated with the listing of the businesses on the ASX during the year. The bank when setting up the
facility were aware of these costs and acknowledged that it would breach our covenant. As a result and even though the covenants
are tested in December 2020 the directors approached the bank in advance. The bank on this occasion have taken no action with

the breach and the next testing date attached to the bank facility is at 31st December 2021.

Based on this, the Directors have decided to continue classifying that amount of borrowings which is not due at least until twelve

months from the reporting date as non-current balance in the statement of financial position.

Details of key borrowing facilities are:

Interest rate

Balance 30 June 2020 Facility Expiry Date (30 June 2020)
NAB Business Markets
Loan 3,111,800 30% Sept 2022 3.6%
NAB Business Options Loan 250,000 16t June 2023 4.5%

For key terms of related party loans refer to Note 22 Related Party Transactions.
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16. Current tax liabilities

Current

17. Provisions

Current — Employee Benefits
Annual Leave

Long Service Leave

18. Deferred tax asset

Non Current

Provisions

Lease liabilities ( net of right of use assets)

19.  Issued Capital
(a) Share capital
Ordinary shares fully paid 90,127,492 shares (2019: 18 shares)

Movement in ordinary shares on issue

At 30 June 2019
23 August 2019 - Removal of Revolution Racegear Pty Ltd Shares on Reverse Takeover

23 August 2019 — Existing RPM shares at reverse takeover date
23 August 2019 — Issued at$.20 — Public Offer

23rd August 2019 — Issued at$.10 — Noteholder conversion

23rd August 2019 — Issued at$.25 — Acquisition of Business

23" August 2019 — Deemed shares on Reverse take-over

30t September 2019 — Issued at $.20 — Placement

30t September 2019 — Issued at $.25 — Exercise of options

24% October 2019 — Issued at $.25 — Performance and earnout shares
30" December 2019 — Issued at $.20 — Staff shares

30th December 2019 — Issued at $.20 — Acquisition of business
30th December 2019 — Issued at $.20 — Placement

30th December 2019 — Issued at $.25 —Exercise of options

Less Share Issue Expenses
At 30 June 2020

Shares to be cancelled at Annual General Meeting

Closing balance

Consolidated
2020 2019
5 )
294,358 285,583
294,358 285,583
368,021 128,163
260,217 83,644
628,238 211,807
185,480
17,860 -
203,340 -
17,699,647 18
17,699,647 18
Number $
18 18
(18) (18)
9,434,456 -
13,079,272 2,615,854
3,000,000 300,000
49,503,400 10,020,664
- 2,358,936
62,500 12,500
7 2
14,370,356 3,592,589
275,000 55,000
202,500 40,500
200,000 40,000
1 -
- (211,398)
90,127,492 18,824,647
(3,469,594) (1,125,000)
86,657,898 17,699,647
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(¢) Options at 30 June 2020
As at 30 June 2020 there were 8,982,698 listed options on issue which are exercisable at $.25 each with an expiry date of 28
August 2021 (30 June 2019: Nil)

Consolidated

2020 2019
Beginning of the period - -
Issued during the period 8,982,706 -
Exercised during the period (8) -
End of period 8,982,698 -

During the period 8,982,706 listed options were issued at $nil which are exercisable at $.25 each with an expiry date of 28
August 2021 as part of the public offer and a bonus issue to shareholders

During the period 8 listed options were exercised (30 June 2019: Nil)

No unlisted options are outstanding as at 30 June 2020

(d) Terms and conditions of contributed equity

Ordinary Shares:

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in the
proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held.

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

Capital Management

When managing capital, management's objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to maintain optimal
returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the
lowest cost of capital available to the entity.

Management may in the future adjust the capital structure to take advantage of favourable costs of capital and issue further shares
in the market. Management has no current plans to adjust the capital structure other than as disclosed in the financial statements.

20. Contingent Assets and Liabilities

Contingent Assets

RPM Automotive Group Ltd (formerly Kairiki Energy Limited) holds interests in certain permits/tenements which are valued
nil as at 30 June 2020. The Group may be able to realise income from these in future years. Financial effect of this unknown due
to uncertainty and absence of reliable estimate. During the year the Group was successful in a royalty sale agreement and
recognised income of $750,000 (refer to note 8a).

Contingent Liabilities

There are no contingent liabilities.

21. Commitments

Lease Commitments — Finance $

Minimum Lease Payments
Future Operating lease short term rentals of property, not provided for and payable as follows:
Within one year 119,344 -

Total 119,344 -

Operating lease commitment includes contracted amounts for various warehouses and offices under non-cancellable
operating leases classified as short term leases.
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22. Related Party Transactions
(a) Parent entity
The parent entity and ultimate parent entity within the Group is RPM Automotive Group Limited.

(b) Subsidiaries

Name of Controlled Entity Place of % Held by Parent Entity Principal Activities
Incorporation 2020 2019
RPM Automotive Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 Motorsports Retail,
Wheels and Tyres,

Roadside and Repairs
and Accessory

Manufacture
(¢) Key management personnel compensation

Consolidated
2020 2019
S $
Short-term employment benefits 578,668 -
Post-employment benefits 33,099 -
Total compensation 611,767 -

Further disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in the remuneration report in the Directors’ Report.

(d) Transactions with other related parties
(i)  Director-related entities
A legal firm of which director Robert Downey is a principal provided services totaling Nil during the year ended 30
June 2020 (2019: Nil). No amount was outstanding at 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).
(it) Loans to/firom related parties

Unsecured, at-call loans are provided by directors, key management personnel and other related parties on an arm’s
length basis. At 30% June 2020 the following Related Party Loans were outstanding:

Related Party Loan Amount Interest Rate Security Expiry Date

Jaffe Family $393,166 6% Unsecured August 2021

Finkelstein Family $310,595 6% Unsecured August 2021

Wei Liu $474,872 Non Interest Bearing PPSA for term of October 2021
loan

Jaffe Family and Finkelstein Family have provided representations to the group that these loans will not be called upon
before 30 June 2021 and until and unless RPM has sufficient cash flows to repay.

As at 30 June 2020 an amount of $580,261 is due from Director Wei Liu as a result of a contractual guarantee related
to the terms of sale and purchase agreement. This amount is due November 2020 with no applicable interest terms.

23. Auditor’s Remuneration

Amount received or due and receivable by the auditor of RPM Automotive Group
Limited for:

Auditing and reviewing the financial statements 120,000 15,000
120,000 15,000
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24. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to provide working capital for the Group’s operations.

The Group has various other financial instruments such as trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations.

1t is the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

Consolidated
2020 2019
$ S
Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 2,083,173 81,334
Trade and other receivables 5,936,536 196,466
Total financial assets 8,019,709 277,800
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 7,000,989 565,008
Borrowings 4,360,637 1,616,849
Related Party Loans 1,362,533 644,680
Lease Liabilities 2,319,530 -
Total financial liabilities 15,043,689 2,826,537

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign currency
risk. The Board reviews and agrees on policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest Rate Risk

At balance date the Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s short-term
cash deposits and bank borrowings. The Group constantly analyses its exposure to interest rates, with consideration given to
potential renewal of existing positions, the mix of fixed and variable interest rates and the period to which deposits may be fixed.

At balance date, the Group had the following financial assets exposed to variable interest rates that are not designated in cash flow

hedges:
Cash and cash equivalents held in interest-bearing accounts 94,161 -
Bank borrowings (3,361,800) (1,600,000)
Net exposure (3,267,639) (1,600,000)

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the reporting date. The 1.0% sensitivity
is based on reasonably possible changes, over a financial year, using an observed range of historical bank interest rate movements
over the last three years.

At 30 June 2020, if interest rates had moved as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post tax profit
and equity relating to financial assets of the Group would have been affected as follows:

Judgements of reasonably possible movements:

Post tax profit and equity - higher / (lower)
+1.0% (32,676) (16,000)
- 1.0% 32,676 16,000
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Liquidity Risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of its cash and
funding requirements.

The table below reflects all contractually fixed pay-offs, repayments and interest resulting from recognised financial liabilities
as of 30 June 2020. These amounts represent contractual undiscounted cash flows.

The contractual maturities of the Group’s total reported financial liabilities are:

Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $
Within six months 7,000,989
Within one year 2,405,468
Within one to five years 5,637,232
The contractual maturities of the Group’s total undiscounted lease liabilities are:
Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $
Within six months 366,218 -
Within one year 366,670 -
Within one to five years 1,833,167 -

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Company.
The Company has adopted the policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other
security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Company measures credit risk
on a fair value basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the carrying
amount (net of any allowance for expected credit losses) as presented in the statement of financial position and notes to the
financial statements.

Cash is primarily deposited only with Australian banks. The Company does not have any other significant credit risk exposure to
a single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by constantly reviewing its exposure to commitments payable and ensuring cash
balances are maintained in appropriate currencies to meet operational commitments. The Group’s main exposure is from purchases
made in USD. The Group offset this exposure by maintaining foreign currency USD account. Transactions in other foreign
currencies are not significant and Group has insignificant exposure as at 30 June 2020.

No reasonable movement in the Australian Dollar (AUD) rates (for example 10% up or down) used to determine the fair value of
the groups financial assets/liabilities would result in a significant impact on profit or equity.

Fair Value
The methods of estimating fair value are outlined in the relevant notes to the financial statements.
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RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. Operating Segment

The Groups segments represent strategic business units that offer different products and operate in different segments of the
automotive aftermarket. They are consistent with the way the CEO monitors and assesses the business performance in order to
make decisions about resource allocation over the Group. Performance assessment is based on EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and
Tax) and EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation). These measures are different from the profit
and loss reported in the consolidated financial statements which is shown after net interest and tax expense. This is because
decisions that affect the net interest expenses and tax expense are made a Group level. It is not considered appropriate to measure
segment reporting at the net profit after tax level.

Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed here as the CEO does not regularly receive such segmental information,
the groups assets and liabilities are detailed throughout these financial statements.

The Groups operating segments are detailed in significant accounting policies at Item r.

Performance &

Motorsport Repairs and Roadside Wheels and Tyres . Consolidated
Accessories
June June June June June June June June June June
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$ $ 3 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Sales 5,172,986 7,707,727 12,058,683 - 12,035,09 _ 3,203,178 _ 32,469,938 -
Other Income 292,862 134,925 343,822 _ 2 359,411 2,515,125
673,825
Total Segment Revenue 5,465,848 7,842,652 12,402,505 - 12,708,91 _ 3,562,589 _ 34,985,063 .
7
Segment Gross Profit 2,761,683 3,507,611 3,618,551 - 2,925,946 2,274,232 _ 11,580,412 -
Segment Gross Profit % 47.7% 45.5% 27.16% - 18.71% _ 59.78% _ 30.52% -
Segment Expenses 2,593,753 2,787,638 3,254,166 - 2,264,328 1,600,239 _ 9,712,486 _
Net Operating Segment 167,930 637,787 364,385 - 661,618 . 673,993 . 1,867,926 -
Profit
Administration Income ) ) 181
Interest - - - - - -
Other income - B _ ) _ _ _ _ 845025 _
Total Administration ) ) 845,206
Income
Administration Expenses
Finance costs . B _ i _ _ _ _ 102,189 _
Employee benefits expenses _ . _ i _ _ _ - 588,100
Share listing expense on ) ) 3,092,812 _
reverse takeover - -
Other expenses _ A - . _ - - _ 270,286
Total Administration i i _ _ 4,053,387
expenses -
Consolidated Profit(loss) - 854,898 - - - _ - _ (1,340.255) _
before tax
Income tax expense _ 217,111 _ - _ _ _ _ 171,975 _
Consolidated net profit _ 637,787 - - N _ _ _ (1,512,230) _
after tax

Inter- Segment Sales
Inter-segment sales are carried out on an arm’s length basis and reflect current market price.
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RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.  Parent Entity Information

The parent entity has no operations apart from holding interests in the subsidiary trading company.

Parent

2020 2019

$ $

Non-current assets 17,699,647 -

Total assets 17,699,647 -

Current liabilities - -

Total liabilities - -

Net assets 17,699,647 -
Issued capital

17,699,647 -

Total equity 17,699,647 -

Loss of the parent entity after tax - -
Other comprehensive income / (loss), net of tax - -

Total comprehensive loss of the parent entity - -

27, Events Subsequent to the Reporting Period

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect
the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years other than:

e On 31% October 2020 the Group will acquired 100% of the issued capital of Citic Autoparts Pty Ltd, a wholesale tyre
trading business established in late 1994, and is considered to be a major distributor in the Australian Tyre Industry. Citic
Autoparts Pty Ltd carry a comprehensive product range and pride themselves on customer-oriented service. Purchase
price comprises a 20% discount to the tangible net asset value of the business and will be paid using a hybrid of treasury,
debt and vendor finance

e On 30% June 2020 the Group entered an agreement to acquire 100% of the issued capital of Gully Mobile Tyres Pty Ltd,
a repair and roadside business specialising in the repair and replacement of on-site heavy-duty plant and equipment tyres.
Purchase price is $195,000 payable $160,000 in RPM shares valued at the lower of 25c per share or market price at 28t
August 2020 and vendor loan of $35,000 payable in seven equal instalments commencing July 2020. The effective date
for this acquisition has been determined to be subsequent to 30 June 2020 as per the terms of completion of the transaction
in the agreement.
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RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

i frs the opinion of the Directors:

a) The consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 29 to 63 and the Remuneration report on
pages 1o 11 inthe Directors’ Report, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

it giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

i} complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

bj the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board, as disclosed in note 1; and

¢} there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable.

2. The direciors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief
Executive Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2020

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors,

=

Grant Carman
Chairman
30 September 2020
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Walker Wayland Advantage Audit Partnership
Audit & Assurance Services

Level 7, 114 William Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Australia

ABN 47 075 804 075
T +61 3 9274 0600
F +61 3 9274 0660

audit@wwadvantage.com.au

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION wwadvantage.com.au
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
TO THE DIRECTORS OF RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED

| declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2020, there
have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

o aleas, Wl Wedsfe e

WALKER WAYLAND ADVANTAGE AUDIT PARTNERSHIP AWAIS UR REHMAN
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS PARTNER

Dated in Melbourne on this 30" day of September 2020

Independent Member

Certified System

Independent Member of Walker Wayland Australasia Limited,

B R a network of independent accounting firms. Sty
U
I < 150 9001
@ sacloeaL

INTERNATIONAL Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation.
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Walker Wayland Advantage Audit Partnership
Audit & Assurance Services

Level 7, 114 William Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Australia

ABN 47 075 804 075
T +61 3 9274 0600
F +61 3 9274 0660

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT audit@wwadvantage.com.au
TO THE MEMBERS OF RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED wwadvantage.com.au

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of RPM Automotive Group Limited (the Company) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, and the Directors’ declaration.

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:

(@) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its
performance for the year then ended; and

(b)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including independence standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our
audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has
been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors
as at the time of this auditor’s report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Independent Member Z
Independent Member of Walker Wayland Australasia Limited, g

B R a network of independent accounting firms. oy 4
all
I( 150 9001

INTERNATIONAL Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation. ©sacLoeaL
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED (Continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying Financial Report.

Key audit matter

Goodwill impairment assessment
Refer to Note 1, 3 “Business Combinations” and 12 “Intangible Assets”

Why significant: How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We considered the assessment of impairment of | Our procedures included, amongst others:
goodwill to be a key audit matter given:
o evaluated the Group’s cash flow forecasts and
o the carrying value of goodwill is material compare the basis of the Group’s forecasts for
($13,466,616); the next five years, with the actual results for
the current year and assess the accuracy of

e the range of judgements and assumptions forecasting;

used in the impairment assessment model;

and o assessed the assumptions and methodology
the sianificant . | ¢ dwil used for the impairment test, in particular, those
= e sigriieant CAmyng value: orgookl, assumptions relating to the discount rate, gross

which represent approximately 41% of the
total assets on the statement of financial
position, this is an area considered to be
risk of material misstatement.

margin percentage retention and growth,
revenue and expense growth rates, and
terminal growth rates;

o tested the sensitivity of the calculations by
varying key assumptions and applying other
values within a reasonably possible range, for
example by reducing certain growth
assumptions as a risk assessment procedure,

o checked the calculations in the valuations
model for mathematical accuracy;

e evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures
made in Note 12 in relation to the key
assumptions used in the impairment
assessment in light of outcomes of the above
analysis and the requirements of Australian
Accounting Standards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED (Continued)

Going concern assessment

Refer to Note 1 “Going concern and Covid-19” and Note 15 “Borrowings”

Why significant:

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis as discussed in note
1.

The Group reported net loss before tax of
$1,340,255 and negative operating cash
outflows of $1,376,581 for the year ended 30
June 2020. The group was also in breach of
Debt/EBIDTA (leverage ratio) covenant imposed
by the financial institution with respect to the
certain borrowing facilities used by the Group.

We considered the going concern assessment
to be a key audit matter given:

o the availability of sufficient funding for the
Group to meet its obligations is considered
key part of our going concern assessment
and therefore a significant aspect of our
audit; and

e the significant of availability and
continuation of banking facilities to the
Group to manage its cash flows.

We performed a number of procedures to assess
going concern including the following:

obtained and reviewed the correspondence
between the financial institution and
management of the Group;

assessed the current and non-current
classification of bank borrowings in the
statement of financial position;

analysed the cash flow forecast and enquire
with the Group to gain an understanding of the
inputs and process underpinning the cash flow
model prepared for the purpose of going
concern assessment;

assessed whether the cash flow model
accurately reflected the budget that was
approved by the Directors;

evaluated the external inputs and assumptions
used within the going concern evaluation model
by comparing them to assumptions and
estimate used elsewhere in the preparation of
the financial report;

assessed the sensitivity and stress testing that
the Group performed on the going concern
forecast considering potential downside
scenarios and the resultant impact on available
funds;

read Group’s ASX announcements particularly
in relation to post year end acquisitions and
expansion plans.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED (Continued)

Accounting for the reverse acquisition and business combination
Refer to Note 1, Note 2 “Reverse Takeover” and Note 3 “Business Combinations”

Why significant.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

(i) Reverse acquisition

To facilitate a listing on the ASX, Revolution
Racegear Pty Ltd (REV) (part of RPM Group
consisting of several entities) undertook a
transaction with RPM Automotive Group
Limited, previously known as Kairiki Energy
Limited (the Company)

The transaction resulted in the Company, as the
listed entity, being acquired via a reverse
acquisition by REV. The continuing entity was
renamed RPM Automotive Group Limited.
Management assessed the acquisition of the
other RPM Group entities to be accounted
under ‘AASB 3 Business Combinations’ REV
being accounting acquirer.

We considered this to be a key audit matter due
fo:

o the complexity of the transaction, and the
level of audit effort involved;

e materiality of the transaction and resulting
balances;

e significance and complexity of the
associated accounting and disclosures.

(i) Business combination

Management exercised judgement on the basis
of advice provided to them by independent
accounting expert, that in the above reverse
acquisition transaction, all the entities except
REV within RPM Group were acquired by REV
under ‘AASB 3 Business Combinations’

() Reverse acquisition

Our procedures included, amongst others:

o assessed the use of reverse acquisition
accounting as the basis of preparation of the
financial statements;

e reviewed the sale and purchase
agreements between the entities involved
and listing document;

e reviewed independent accounting specialist
advice provided to us by the management
on the process and treatment of the
transaction;

e challenged conclusions reached by
management;

o assessed the Group's conclusions against
the requirements of the relevant accounting
standards, including interpretation guidance
and authoritative support;

e evaluated the methodology and tested the
mathematical accuracy of the calculation of
the consideration transferred and the
resulting transaction accounting expense;
and

o reviewed the comparative information
disclosed in the financial statements to
check that it is of the continuing business of
the accounting acquirer, REV.

(i) Business combination

Our procedures included, but were not limited to the
following:

e reviewed purchase and sale agreements to
understand the terms and conditions of the
acquisitions;
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We considered this to be a key audit matter due

fo: o reviewed independent expert advice

provided to management by independent
accounting firm in relation to the acquisition

o materiality of the transaction and resulting accounting of entities in RPM Group

balances; ;
excluding REV;
e Accounting for acquisition is complex and o assessed and evaluated the treatment and
involves a number of significant judgements accounting of this transaction under ‘AASB
and estimates as disclosed in Note 3. The 3 Business Combinations’;

key area of significant judgment an
estimation in relation to acquisition of
entities within RPM Group by REV were:
o determination of fair value of the
consideration including deferred
consideration;

o assessed the estimation of consideration by
challenging the key assumptions;

o assessed the methodology and
assumptions used as basis to identify and
determine the fair value of assets acquired

and liabilities assumed; and
o identification and measurement of the

fair value of assets and liabilities
acquired.

o assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
Note 3.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report
and our related assurance opinion.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives
a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED (Continued)

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included on pages 8 to 11 of the directors’ report for

the year ended 30 June 2020.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of RPM Automotive Group Limited, for the year ended 30
June 2020, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
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WALKER WAYLAND ADVANTAGE AUDIT PARTNERSHIP AWAIS UR REHMAN
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS PARTNER

Dated in Melbourne on this 30" day of September 2020.



RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Additional information included in accordance with Listing Rules of the Australian
Stock Exchange Limited

Amendment to Appendix 4E

Following the preparation of the ASX Appendix 4E form the following adjustments have been made to the Financial
Statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2020:

$
Appendix 4E Comprehensive (loss) for the year ended (562,401)
Audit adjustments (462,442)
Listing expenses on Reverse Takeover (315,412)
Income tax expense (171,975)
Total Comprehensive Income (loss) for the year ended (1,512,230)

The audit process of the financial statements is now completed and accordingly we have made adjustments for the finalisation of
income tax, adjustment to the listing cost on reverse take-over in accordance with business sale agreement, take on employment
provisions and accounting for stock in transit.

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 23 September 2020.

1. Distribution of Holders

Fully Paid
Ordinary
Shares Options
Number of holders in the following distribution categories:
0 - 1,000 218 2,086
1,001 - 5,000 91 226
5,001 - 10,000 132 57
10,001-100,000 217 91
100,001 and over 77 16
Number of holders 735 2,476
Holders of less than a marketable parcel 240 -
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Additional information included in accordance with Listing Rules of the Australian
Stock Exchange Limited

RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

2.

Twenty Largest Shareholders

The names of the twenty largest shareholders are as follows:

—
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RPM Australasia Pty Ltd

RPM Worldwide Group Pty Ltd

Wei Liu Pty Ltd <Wei Liu Family A/C>

Mrs Sonia Rahmani

Mrs Jodi Lynne Finkelstein

Mrs Pauley Jaffe

Mr Ejay Rahmani

Mr Campbell Douglas Welch

Mr Bradley Gilliland

Mr Paul Nyman

Dixson Trust Pty Ltd

Spilco Pty Ltd

Mrs Erica May Binnie >

Mr Anthony Violi

Sue Simpson Pty Ltd <The Sue Simpson Family A/C>

Mr Mark Allen Barton and Mr Mitchell William Blackman

Steven Max Smith

Invia Custodian Pty Ltd <Andrew William Blackman>

Mrs Sharlene Patricia Abrahams

Carroll Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd <The Gerard Super Fund
A/C>

Shares on issue

Number Percentage of
of Issued Capital
Shares
21,286,485 23.44
16,953,163 18.67
8,600,000 947
3,469,594 3.82
2,746,000 3.02
2,746,000 3.02
1,971,840 2.17
1,052,727 1.16
1,002,889 1.10
1,002,889 1.10
1,000,000 1.10
929,280 1.02
800,000 0.88
775,248 0.85
758,400 0.84
702,027 0.77
680,851 0.75
675,675 0.75
639,350 0.70
560,000 0.62
68,352,418 75.27
90,808,343
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RPM AUTOMOTIVE GROUP LIMITED

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Additional information included in accordance with Listing Rules of the Australian
Stock Exchange Limited

3. Options
There are 8,982,698 options on issue which have an exercise price of $0.25 and an expiry date of 28 August 2021.

The Twenty Largest Option holders are as follows:

Number of Percentage
options of options

1 Stuart James Hercules 1,000,000 11.13

2 Mr Anthony Violi 366,942 4.08

3 Spilco Pty Ltd 362,500 4.04

4 Invia Custodian Pty Limited <Andrew William Blackman A/C> 337,837 3.76

5 Ms Linvana Thomson 325,929 3.63

6  Mr Campbell Douglas Welch 300,000 3.34

7  Carroll Superannuation Fund Pty Limited <The Gerard Super Fund A/C> 293,249 3.26

8 Lobel Enterprises Pty Limited <Lobel Super Fund A/C> 281,554 3.13

9 Mr Mark Allen Barton & Mr Mitchell James Barton 263,513 2.93

10 Dixson Trust Pty Limited 250,000 2.78
11 Mr Paul Lynton Spindler 202,702 2.26
12 Novus Capital Limited 200,000 2.23
13 Mrs Sharlene Patricia Abrahams 159,837 1.78
14 VFT Investments Pty Ltd 139,961 1.56
15  Mr Brent Calvin Lobell 126,250 1.41
16  E-Tech Capital Pty Ltd<ASF Super Fund A/C> 125,000 1.39
17 Mr A S Mohammad Masum 100,000 1.11
18  Mrs Carol Anne Bingham 94,594 1.05
19 Salisbury Cove Corporate Pty Ltd<The Salisbury Cove Super A/C> 93,750 1.04
20  Foley Super Pty Ltd <Foley Superfund A/C> 84,459 .94
5,108,077 56.87

Options on issue 8,982,698

4. Restricted Securities

The following securities are in voluntary escrow:
44,526,400 fully paid ordinary shares until 28 August 2020
402,500 fully paid ordinary shares until 30 December 2020
6,492,000 fully paid ordinary shares until 28 August 2021

5.  Substantial Shareholders
Substantial shareholders in the Company as disclosed in the substantial shareholder notices given to the Company:

Number of Percentage of Issued
Shares Capital
RPM Worldwide Group Pty Ltd 16,953,163 18.67
RPM Australasia Pty Ltd 21,286,485 23.44

6. Voting Rights

Shares
On a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy or attorney or being a corporation by its authorised representative
who is present in person or by proxy, shall have one vote for every fully paid ordinary share of which he is a holder.

Options
Options have no voting rights until such options are exercised as fully paid ordinary shares.

7. On-market Buy-back
There is no current on-market buy-back of the Company’s securities.
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